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Monday, July 30, 2012


--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MS. HELT:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Maureen Helt.  I am counsel with the Board.  We are here today with respect to the technical conference for Enersource's cost-of-service application EB-2012-0033.  This technical conference was ordered by way of Procedural Order No. 1 of the Board and reaffirmed by the Board's Procedural Order No. 3.


The purpose of the technical conference is to address the evidence that was filed in response to the issues list, which was attached to Procedural Order No. 2.


With respect to Procedural Order No. 3, I would just like to reiterate some of the comments and direction from the Board for the outset of the technical conference today.


There were certain documents that were to be produced today by Enersource on a confidential basis as ordered by the Board pursuant to Procedural Order No. 3.


The Board did note as an interim measure the Board will allow any external counsel or external consultant for intervenors that wish to review the confidential documents that will be filed in response to School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 5 and No. 27, to do so after signing a copy of the Board's declaration and undertaking with respect to the confidential documents and filing it with the Board and serving it on Enersource.


The Board expects Enersource to have hard copies of the confidential documents available at the technical conference on Monday, July 30th, 2012.  The Board's declaration and undertaking may also be executed at that time.


I have received from Enersource this morning a copy of the confidential document in response to Schools Energy Coalition IR No. 5, the shareholders' agreement, and we will mark that for the purpose of today's technical conference as KTC1.1.  Any intervenor who would like a copy of that confidential document can do so after signing a declaration and undertaking with the Board.

EXHIBIT NO. KTC1.1:  CONFIDENTIAL DOCUMENT FROM ENERSOURCE IN RESPONSE TO SCHOOLS ENERGY COALITION IR No. 5.

MS. HELT:  Enersource has also provided me with a redacted version of the confidential document produced in response to SEC Interrogatory No. 3, the investor presentation.  This redacted document will be marked today as KT1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  REDACTED VERSION OF THE CONFIDENTIAL DOCUMENT PRODUCED IN RESPONSE TO SEC INTERROGATORY No. 3.

MS. HELT:  I would also like to remind the parties that the Board in Procedural Order No. 3 asked that all parties with the assistance of Board Staff accommodate each other's schedules as much as possible to ensure that the time set aside for the technical conference is used as efficiently as possible.


This was stated -- the Board always asks for that, but particularly so today, in that there is another proceeding ongoing in the northwest hearing room, and I understand a number of the intervenors also have cross-examinations going on in the other hearing room as well.


So if we can to the best of our ability try and accommodate the intervenors with respect to their ability to cross the various panels, that would be most appreciated.


I have also been informed by Enersource that they will deal with a few preliminary matters at the outset of the technical conference, and prior to doing that I would just like to ask for appearances, and then if there are other parties who have preliminary matters we can deal with those before the technical conference commences.

Appearances:


MS. HELT:  As indicated, my name is Maureen Helt, and I am counsel with Board Staff.  With me I have Keith Ritchie and Richard Battista, also with Board Staff, and Richard is the case manager for this proceeding.


The court reporter today is Lisa Lamberti, and other than that, those are the Board's appearances.


MS. DeJULIO:  Good morning.  My name is Gia DeJulio, and I am with Enersource Hydro Mississauga.


MR. VEGH:  Good morning.  George Vegh, counsel for Enersource.  There will be a number of Enersource witnesses on the witness panels, and I will just have them introduce themselves as their panels are seated.


MR. KILLEEN:  Good morning.  My name is Bill Killeen.  I'm also with Enersource.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I will have some preliminary matters to speak to when you get to them, including some clarification on these confidential documents.


MR. CROCKER:  I'm David Crocker, representing AMPCO.


MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, representing VECC.


MR. BORAS:  Branko Boras, with Enersource Hydro Mississauga.


MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye for Energy Probe.  And at various times Mr. Randy Aiken will be here, and David MacIntosh is here for Energy Probe as well.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, Consumers Council of Canada.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  As I said, there are a number of other people here from Enersource, but they are witnesses, and we will have them introduced as they take their seats.


As you indicated, Ms. Helt, we do have some administrative matters to speak to up front, and I understand other parties do as well, but I'll hand it over to Ms. DeJulio, who will address some of the document issues.


MS. DeJULIO:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.


Providing the board today, we have with redacted versions of the investor's presentation, as Ms. Helt explained.  That is in response to general issue SEC IR No. 3.


Before the end of the day we will also provide the Board with a redacted version of the shareholders' agreement, which is response to general issue SEC Interrogatory No. 5.  We have provided the Board with the confidential version of that, as Ms. Helt said.


We are in contact or trying to contact the third party of the response to Interrogatory No. 27 of SEC under Issue 4.1.  And we expect to do that today, and we want to let them know that we have been ordered by the Board to provide this contract.


And so we do expect that by the end of the day today we would be able to provide the Board with the confidential version, and of course any parties who sign the declaration undertaking to also provide that to them, and then of course the redacted version of that today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can I just ask a question about that? Was the Board's order to produce the response to 27 conditional on contacting the third party?


MR. VEGH:  No, the Board did not make that condition in place, though it is Board's practice to allow parties who are impacted by a Board order to have notice of that, and if they consider it necessary to make submissions.  So we do feel that we are following Board practice in contacting the counterparty to the contract.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then my second question with respect to the confidential materials is, number 5, the shareholders' agreement, I understand you have copies of that today; is that right?


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But do I understand correctly you don't have redacted copies of that yet?


MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When do we expect to see those?


MS. DeJULIO:  I expect to have the redacted version of the shareholders' agreement before the end of the day, maybe even by noon today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then number 3, you filed the redacted today?


MS. DeJULIO:  I filed the redacted of the investor presentation, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And do we have the confidential version of that already?


MS. DeJULIO:  You have not signed the declaration form yet.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but --


MS. DeJULIO:  It's available, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And are there copies here today?


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, there are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there are copies of number 5 as well.


MS. DeJULIO:  Number 5 being the shareholders' agreement.  Yes, there are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  Unless other parties have issues, preliminary issues, we are prepared to go.  I don't know, Mr. Shepherd, if you did have some additional issues?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  I'm sorry, I thought you had a number of preliminary matters.  My understanding is that you have a number of panels available to be questioned today?


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, we do, we have four proposed panels, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I would request, in keeping with the Board's Procedural Order No. 3, that you make sure that all of those witnesses are available for both days, because some of us have commitments in other matters that we have to -- we can't always be in the room at the time that you are doing something, and so we want to make sure that for the two days we are available.


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes, we are dedicated to this proceeding, so we are here for two days.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  I just have a few other preliminary matters.


We do have copies of the declaration and undertaking here for any party that wishes to see the confidential documents which we can provide to you.  Mr. Battista will be happy to hand them out to those intervenors, and Mr. Battista, if you keep a list of who has been given them, that will be helpful.


One other further matter -- and this is just for the witness panels.  I didn't say at the outset, on the panel in front of you where your microphone is, there is a button and a green light.  When you are asked to respond to a particular question, please ensure that the green light is on.


And one other thing is that sometimes one witness will answer and then turn off the light and the next witness will go to speak.  Some of the microphones are attached to both, so you don't want to be turning off the microphone for your colleague.


I think that is it for preliminary matters.


One other thing, just with respect to the confidential information, when it is circulated, and if there are going to be questions on that, we would like to try and do that in a concise manner such that we -- because we have to go off air and in camera, so we would like to try and have all of the confidential questions asked consecutively by all of the parties.


So there may be some organization that we will have to do around that, but we will see how it goes when we get to that, but just to remind parties of that.


MR. CROCKER:  Ms. Helt, perhaps I can address two issues by way of preliminary just so that I don't stumble as the hearing goes on.


Two areas of questioning that don't seem to fit particularly into the panel descriptions, and I want to make sure I don't miss them -- ask them of the wrong panel and miss the right panel.  The two issues are reliability and productivity.  Cost allowance is clear.  Those two issues don't seem particularly clear with respect to the panel presentation set that -- provided by Enersource, and if Mr. Vegh can tell me which panels I should best direct my questions to, that would be fine.


MR. VEGH:  So the -- so Mr. Crocker, the issue of reliability, questions with respect to reliability, can be addressed to Doug Morrison, who's on panel number 2.  Productivity seems to cover a lot of ground, so I am not -- probably have -- probably Mr. James Macumber would be the person to ask most of those questions to, but it's a pretty broad term, so it's not a discrete subject matter.

MS. GIRVAN:  I had a general question.  Can you explain the numbering? Did you take Board Staff's and number them consecutively, but then others within each issue?

I am not sure how they are all numbered.

MS. DeJULIO:  Ms. Girvan, are you referring to the issue numbers?

MS. GIRVAN:  No, the interrogatory numbers.


MS. DeJULIO:  We followed the numbering of each of the intervenors and Board Staff.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So if I look at operating revenue, and the first interrogatory is Board Staff 21.

MS. DeJULIO:  Right.  That's how the Board Staff numbered them.

MS. GIRVAN:  So Board Staff and AMPCO numbered their own consecutively throughout, whereas others numbered them within each issue; is that correct?

MS. DeJULIO:  Right.  Did you want my opinion on what worked better?

MS. GIRVAN:  It's just really confusing.

MS. DeJULIO:  I agree.

MR. CROCKER:  I'll take your opinion.

MR. KILLEEN:  Julie, if I could just make one suggestion to everybody, is that when you are asking a question about an interrogatory, state who it came from and the issue number and then the interrogatory number, because as you pointed out, there is a little bit of confusion here.  Some parties numbered things consecutively and some numbered them -- they started back from 1 for each issue number.

So it's a learning process.

MS. HELT:  Thank you for pointing that out, Ms. Girvan.  That's something I will certainly take back with me to try and ensure that in the future when we deal with interrogatories on particular issues, we are consistent with Board Staff and intervenors.


MS. DeJULIO:  Ms. Helt, I do have an opinion on this.


MS. HELT:  Certainly.

MS. DeJULIO:  What we did find useful was when there were unique numbers for all of the interrogatories.

So, for example, Board Staff had, say, 60 IRs.  They were numbered sequentially and they were unique, and it was more difficult when Energy Probe, for example, had 112 IRs and there were probably 80 number ones.  That made it more difficult.

MS. HELT:  Does everyone understand that?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  We have done it different ways in different cases, and we have just finished the Union Gas case where we did it the way some of us did it, which seemed to work well, particularly in the hearing process.

Anyway, I just wanted to be clear exactly what had happened.  Thanks.

MS. HELT:  All right.   Well, perhaps we can have some discussion of that off-record after the technical conference.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I suggest that before we get to the witnesses that we deal with trading the confidential information, so we can have it as early as possible?  So those of us who are going to sign undertakings can do so immediately, and get -- so maybe we can take a break for two minutes while we do that; is that possible?


MS. HELT:  Certainly.  We will just go off the record for a couple of minutes while we do that.

--- Recess taken at 9:48 a.m.


--- On resuming at 9:51 a.m.


MS. HELT:  All right.  We're back on the record.


MR. VEGH:  Okay.  Thank you.


So just to summarize what took place off the record, the applicant received signed undertakings from counsel for SEC and counsel for our consultant to CCC, and they have both been provided with confidential versions of the documents.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have the redacted number 3?  Do you have a copy of that as well?  It was filed today; right?


MS. DeJULIO:  I gave one copy -- I only had one redacted version, and I gave it to Ms. Helt.  We could get copies.


MS. HELT:  We will make some copies of that and provide them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Garner?


MR. GARNER:  Yes, thank you.


There is one matter.  Earlier this morning off the record I provided to Enersource a set of questions in regard to load forecast, cost allocation that were done by my colleague Mr. Harper, and I am not sure how those will be answered.  They may be answered orally on the record or they may be answered in written form, and I would just like to note.


And second, in following Ms. DeJulio's suggestion, they are numbered right now uniquely.  What I suggest is she renumber them from IR 54 onward, which is where we were on our next interrogatory so they are answered, if we can just answer them that way for us, please.


MS. HELT:  But they're in --


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Mark.  So then they are becoming interrogatories?


MR. GARNER:  Well, right now I am not sure how they are going to be answered, Julie.  They may be answered orally when the panel comes up, but what I am suggesting to Gia is, if in fact they can't be answered in that manner and they have to do undertakings, that she simply continue on with the undertaking number so we can follow along with them.


MS. GIRVAN:  No, that won't work.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, undertakings are going to have a different set of numbers, I think.


MR. GARNER:  Yeah, that's fine.  You're right, and that's fine.  So for the record, though, everybody should know that we have provided this to Enersource and there are some potential undertakings in there.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  So you did provide some questions in writing.  I expect we will try to answer them as the witnesses go up, those that we can.  Those that we can't we will just treat as undertakings to the technical conference, provided that we are prepared to provide those answers.


MR. GARNER:  Yes, thank you.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Are there any other preliminary matters?  All right then.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  I will just mention while introducing the first panel that Enersource has provided parties and the Board, I believe last Thursday, with a list of the technical panels and the issues that they will be addressing.


We do understand the direction in Procedural Order No. 3 to accommodate the parties, given the number of proceedings going on in front of the Board right now, and as Ms. DeJulio indicated we will do that.


Just a piece of information:  For the first panel, Mr. Rankin, who is on that panel and not on any other panel, is available this morning but not this afternoon, but Mr. Sultana will remain available, and I am sure we will be able to work our way through, given people's availability.


With that I would like to have the witnesses introduce themselves for the record.  We are about to -- the witnesses for panel number 1, Mr. Sultana and Mr. Rankin, I will have them introduce themselves for the record and to identify their areas of evidence and then hand it over to the intervenors for questions.  Sirs?

ENERSOURCE HYDRO MISSISSAUGA INC. – PANEL 1


David Rankin


Martin Sultana


MR. RANKIN:  Right.  Good morning.  My name is David Rankin.  I am the manager of metering for Enersource Hydro Mississauga.  I am also the project lead for the smart metering deployment.


MR. SULTANA:  My name is Martin Sultana.  I am the rates manager.  I am involved with the revenue requirement for the smart meter model.  I am also involved in the PILs, in the variance and deferral accounts, and the rate design.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, witnesses.  I don't believe there are many parties that have cross-examination for this panel, so we will start with Board Staff, and then if any of the intervenors have follow-up questions we will proceed in that manner.


I would like to introduce again Mr. Keith Ritchie, with Board Staff.

Questions by Mr. Ritchie:


MR. RITCHIE:  Good morning panel.  I actually really have only one just, I guess, line of questions, and it's with respect to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 67.  It's listed as Issue 10.1, although I believe in fact it should be Issue 10.2.


Now -- and this is with respect to the treatment of the stranded meters, the recovery of the residual net book value through a stranded meter rate rider.  And I am referring to sort of, I guess, just guideline G2011.0001, which was issued by the Board on December 15th.


Under the stranded meter rate rider the Board at page 23 stated that, you know, with respect to the calculation of a stranded meter rate rider:

"The distributor should determine and support its proposed allocation based on the principles of cost causality and practicality.  The stranded meter NBV, net book value, should be recovered through rate riders for applicable customer classes."


And I will sort of end the quote there.


I guess when I was looking at your response to the interrogatory -- Board Staff Interrogatory 67, you have basically in part (a) acknowledged that the cost for the stranded meters would differ between -- amongst the three classes that you have installed smart meters for and that you have the stranded meter cost for, and that's the residential, the GS less than 50, and the GS greater than 50; correct?


MR. SULTANA:  That is correct.


MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, in your application and really in the responses to parts (b) and (d) of the same interrogatory, you state that you have used the number of smart meters installed as the allocator for the stranded meter costs, and saying that the net book value of the stranded meters is not available.


MR. SULTANA:  Just to clarify, the net book value by customer class of the stranded meters is not available.


MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Now, if I go to Enersource's 2013 cost allocation model, which was filed in Exhibit 7, tab 1, sched 1, appendix 1, and it's also in an Excel version, basically there is a tab there, I7.1, and --


MR. VEGH:  Could you give the reference again, Keith?


MR. RITCHIE:  It's Exhibit 7, tab 1, sched 1, appendix 1, and in particular, looking at the Excel version of it, I was looking at tab I7.1, and this is on the meter data.  And this basically -- tab deals with the allocation of meter capital costs.  And if I was just to look at the row labelled on the left as the "cost relative to residential average costs", I would see that the numbers are shown as 1 for residential, which would be expected, because it is relative to residential, 4.92 for GS less than 50, and 6.71 for GS 50 to 499 and so on.


And this really is an estimate of sort of the customer-weighted meter costs.


Now, where you have actually taken the costs per meter, you have looked at how many meters there are, and for each class; correct?


MR. SULTANA:  In regards to the cost allocation model, I wasn't involved in the cost allocation model so I can't respond to that.


MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Is anyone able to talk to --


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.  On panel number 3, we have three folks there, but John Bonadie would be able to answer your questions about the cost allocation model.


MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  I am really trying to go to the stranded meter costs.


And again, the current cost allocation model is for your proposed rates for 2013 and 2014, and it includes the smart meter costs, as well as sort of the demand meters, the interim meters for other customer classes.  And that may not be sort of the appropriate weighting, or it may not be the appropriate information used for trying to determine the residual stranded meter costs of the stranded conventional meters.


But there is this tab I7.1, which is from the cost allocation model.  And the cost allocation model really hasn't changed all that much since 2005, 2006 when it was introduced.


Now, where I was trying to look at, in your 2008 cost of service application, you had some summaries of your cost allocation model, but you didn't actually -- I couldn't find the cost allocation informational filing used from 2006, filed on the record.


In your 2008 application, you express some concerns about the data in the model and the use of the model, but I guess I was trying to look for that model because, in fact, I would wonder if, in fact, similar data under I7.1 of your 2006 cost allocation informational filing might be useful for actually trying to determine the customer-weighted meter costs.


MS. DeJULIO:  Could you give us a minute, Mr. Ritchie?


MR. VEGH:  Mr. Ritchie, I think the simplest thing is if you could state the question as a question and we'll see if the panel can answer it.  If they can't, I guess we could just treat it as an undertaking.  Perhaps the cost allocation panel can address it when it gets to their turn.


MR. RITCHIE:  Okay.  Well, in reality, I guess the bottom line on this is that I am wondering if, in fact, Enersource could undertake to provide, really, the tab I7.1 of its 2006 cost allocation informational filing.


And -- because, again, that may be some information to consider as to really how should -– well, whether there should be some means of allocating the stranded meter costs so that they are...


MR. VEGH:  That's fine.  We will provide that undertaking.


MS. HELT:  We will note, then, as Undertaking JT1.1 for Enersource to provide tab I7.1 of its 2006 cost allocation informational filing.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE TAB I7.1 OF 2006 COST ALLOCATION INFORMATIONAL FILING.

MR. VEGH:  Thank you.

Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Can I just follow-up with Keith's questions?  Because I am curious also about where this is all going.


The first question is:  In your opinion, is the metering, the cost of a residential and a non-residential meter, similar or not similar?  One is more expensive than the other?


MR. RANKIN:  There is a cost differential between residential and commercial meters, yes.


MR. GARNER:  And in your opinion, is that differential significant?  Could you give me some idea of what you think that differential would be?


I am not looking for an exact number; I'm just looking for an idea of how much difference there would be.


MR. RANKIN:  The individual cost or the installed cost?


MR. GARNER:  Installed cost of a GS under 50, over 50, versus residential meters.


MR. RANKIN:  In the IR response -- sorry, the updated information from May 17th, the individual residential meters cost 131 -- or, sorry, 153, as compared to the GS less than 50 at 501, and a GS greater than 50 at 543.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


I just want to make sure I understand what was done in the rider.  So as I understand it that differential that you have just spoken to, it doesn't show -- it doesn't exist in the way you calculated the rider, because you just allocate on customers, number of customers; is that correct?


MR. SULTANA:  We allocate on number of customers because we didn't have the breakout of the net book value by customer class, because when they were originally recorded, it was all pooled assets.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  I think I understand, but just to be clear, I am correct to say there is no difference in the cost recognized in that rider rate now, because it's just done on customer numbers; correct?


MR. SULTANA:  That's correct.


MR. GARNER:  And Mr. Ritchie's question went to the fact that some time in the past, in cost allocation studies that were done by the utility, there were estimates of those differentials that exist between the two classes made for the purpose of cost allocation; are you aware of that?


MR. SULTANA:  I believe that's the cost allocation model.  Again, I don't have the experience with the cost allocation model.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Fair enough.


On the presumption they do exist - and Mr. Ritchie's undertaking demonstrates they exist - would you say that that would be a better estimate of the allocation of costs than the one you have used, which is simply class numbers?


MR. VEGH:  Why don't we answer the undertaking?  There are a lot of hypotheticals in that question.  So we will respond to Mr. Ritchie's undertaking to provide the material, and then I guess the parties can make their own judgment as to what is a more reasonable approach to allocating costs.


MR. GARNER:  I would like to maybe add to the undertaking, then, because I think what -– if -- I am going to presume they exist.  I think they probably do.  So I would like the undertaking to also answer the question as to whether Enersource believes or is willing to use that information in order to recalculate that rider.


MR. VEGH:  So why don't we treat it as a separate undertaking?  And I am not even sure if the Board Staff is completed yet -- if not, this is a bit out of order, but we can at least deal with the undertaking request.


And perhaps, Mr. Garner, you could state that request again, and I'll tell you as an answer we will take that under advisement.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, it's fairly common practice, Mr. Vegh, for people to jump in and follow up on a question that somebody has asked.  And I want to do a subsequent follow-up to Mr. Garner's.


First of all, witnesses, you referred to an interrogatory response.  Did you give us the number?


Maybe I just missed it.


MR. SULTANA:  Oh, sorry.  When Mr. Rankin was going through the costs, he was going through the updated May 17th evidence, Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 1.


There is a table with a summary of smart meter capital costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit 9, tab 2, schedule 1.


MR. SULTANA:  Table 4.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Table 4.  And this sets out the installed costs of meters by class.  So would I be right that the ratio of installed costs of meters for GS under 50 to residential is 3.27 to 1?  Does that look about right to you?  And similarly the GS over 50?  Sorry?


MR. RANKIN:  I don't have that calculation in front of me.  I would have --


MR. SHEPHERD:  501 divided by 153.  It's about 3 or so, 3 and a bit; right?


MR. RANKIN:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly, 543 to 153 is three and a half, right, roughly?  And I guess I'm -- that's the actual ratio of costs that you incurred in installing meters in the three classes.  Am I correct in that?


MR. RANKIN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  All right then.  Perhaps we can just recap where we were at.


Mr. Garner, you had followed up to an undertaking of Mr. Ritchie, and you were going to -- you asked an undertaking as well, and I believe Mr. Vegh indicated he would prefer this to be a separate undertaking.  Can you just state it for the record, please, Mr. Garner?


MR. GARNER:  Certainly.  The undertaking I would ask Enersource to undertake is, if the response to the previous undertaking is that there is data in previous cost allocation studies that go to demonstrate the difference between the meter classes costs, would Enersource use that data in order to recalculate the rider, the stranded meter rider, and if not then provide a reason why that would not be a good methodology to use.


MR. VEGH:  And I indicated that we would take that under advisement.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Mr. Ritchie, any further questions?


MR. RITCHIE:  Actually, no.  I think really Mr. Garner sort of stole my thunder on this one.


MS. HELT:  All right.  So that will be --


MR. GARNER:  I'm sorry, Keith.


MS. HELT:  -- just for the record, Undertaking JT1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO DETERMINE, IF THE RESPONSE TO THE PREVIOUS UNDERTAKING IS THAT THERE IS DATA IN PREVIOUS COST ALLOCATION STUDIES THAT GO TO DEMONSTRATE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE METER CLASSES COSTS, WOULD ENERSOURCE USE THAT DATA IN ORDER TO RECALCULATE THE RIDER, THE STRANDED METER RIDER, AND IF NOT THEN PROVIDE A REASON WHY THAT WOULD NOT BE A GOOD METHODOLOGY TO USE.

MR. VEGH:  So 1.1 is Board Staff's, 1.2 is --


MS. HELT:  1.2 is Mr. Garner's, correct.


Are there any other questions for this witness panel?

Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  I have one.  It's very simple.  The suite metering costs of Enersource, I just want to confirm -- I think I know the answer -- but to confirm that none of the suite metering costs are in the smart meter recovery of the utility right now?  Suite metering costs.


MR. RANKIN:  No, they are not.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


Sorry, and the other one is -- and I haven't had -- I apologize.  I have not had a lot of time to review your response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 58 where you recalculated the smart meter rider, and I am afraid I am having a little bit of trouble finding the new -- the rider that is -- falls out of that calculation.  There are a number of pages that were attached to it, et cetera.  And I am wondering if you can help me find where that is, the new riders are.


MR. SULTANA:  On page 24 of 25 of that smart meter model.


MR. GARNER:  On page 24 of 25?


MR. SULTANA:  Correct.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


And just again to just confirm, this now is the revised -- you are revising your evidence to incorporate this rider into the application?


MR. SULTANA:  Correct.  The Board released the model on July 3rd, and we have updated the smart meter rate -- disposition rate riders for that model.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask a follow-up on suite metering?  Does your suite metering program include any conversions of existing GS under 50 or over 50 buildings to suite meters?


MR. RANKIN:  There were buildings with commercial suites, but there are no completely GS buildings.  They are usually a residential enterprise with ground-floor commercial accounts.  Those are included in the conversion, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but those buildings before suite metering would be GS over 50 or under 50.


MR. RANKIN:  Correct, sorry, yeah, the entire building is, as --


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then they would have a larger meter, a different meter, before the conversion; right?


MR. RANKIN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what happens to those, the cost of those meters?  Are they stranded?


MR. RANKIN:  Those meters are actually left in service in certain situations for common areas.  In most situations they are left in place as a check meter to ensure that the entire building is being correctly metered.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. RANKIN:  So they are not stranded.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they are left in the building.


MR. RANKIN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They are not removed.


MR. RANKIN:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But aren't you putting in, like, a quad logic or something like that which is metering the whole building anyway?


MR. RANKIN:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what is the value of having those meters there?


MR. RANKIN:  To ensure the buildings are correctly metered as an overall and capture all of the transient load from suite -- or, sorry, the common areas:  hallways, elevators, et cetera.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the Quadlogic does that too.


MR. RANKIN:  It does that as well as a total.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any other GS over 50 or GS under 50 buildings that have two meters?


MR. RANKIN:  No, we do not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it possible to identify the amount currently in your rate base for these duplicative meters, the meters that are left in?  Is that something you could do by way of undertaking, tell us what the number is?


MR. RANKIN:  We will take that under advisement, and we will check on that to ensure we have that data.  We will provide it.


MR. VEGH:  If we have it.


MR. RANKIN:  If we have it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, is there some reason why you might not have it?


MR. VEGH:  I think the witnesses have said they are just not in a position now to say whether they have it.  They will review, and if they do have it you will be provided with that information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When will we hear that, whether you have it?


MR. VEGH:  There is a date to respond, I believe, to undertakings and issues taken under advisement here, so it will be in accordance with that schedule.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I won't know in time to ask any follow-up questions.  Because I can ask the follow-up questions now and we can just deal with it now.


MR. VEGH:  But we don't have the information now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's okay.  I can get at it another way.  That's fine.


So how many buildings have you converted, buildings to which, you know, this problem would arise; that is, you would have an old meter, and now you have a new meter?


MR. RANKIN:  I believe we have completed 33 buildings.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thirty-three buildings.  And do you have any evidence somewhere, the average cost of a meter for a GS under 50 or GS over 50 building?  It would be in your cost allocation material somewhere; right?


MR. SULTANA:  Presumably.  Again, I am not the person who was involved with the cost allocation, so I can't answer that question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, when you do your smart meters, that's part of your costing of putting in cost meter -- cost -- smart meters -- suite meters for a new building; right?  You have to know what the cost is of the existing equipment, don't you?


MR. SULTANA:  The suite metering is outside of the smart meter disposition here.  It wasn't included in the smart meter application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it part of your group?  The suite metering, is it done through your group, or is it done somewhere else?


MR. RANKIN:  Oh, it's done in my group.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if it's done in your group, then you know what the costing is for converting a building to suite metering, don't you?


MR. RANKIN:  We would be able to give you that information, yes.  I don't have that in front of me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, can you give me a ballpark of how big the number is for the existing meters in converted buildings?


MR. RANKIN:  Buildings vary in size from 50 units up to 350 units.  A ballpark wouldn't provide you with any specific data on cost.  I can provide that to you as an undertaking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So can that be part of the same undertaking then?


MR. VEGH:  So can you restate the undertaking, please?


MS. HELT:  So what I have noted for JT1.3 is to identify the amount in rate base for the meters that are left in the buildings.  And perhaps, Mr. Shepherd, you can just specify that the meters that are you talking about that are --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these are the 33 buildings you converted, and presumably any buildings that are you are planning to convert in the test period, because obviously those will also have this impact, because you are going convert some more this year and some more next year and some more 2014; right?


MR. RANKIN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What is your target for the end of 2014?


MR. RANKIN:  The targets for 2013 and 2014 are an additional 250 units.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Each year, or total?


MR. RANKIN:  Each year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's 500-plus by the end of 2014?


MR. RANKIN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So -- Ms. Helt asked me to clarify the undertaking -- what I would like is for that period right up until the end of the test period, how much by way of cost in meters will be in rate base for those buildings that have been converted, according to your plan.


And if you could give us an idea of the range of costs, the costs in GS under 50 and GS over 50, that would be useful, because obviously it will affect the different rate classes differently.


So can you do that?


MR. RANKIN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you so much.


MR. VEGH:  Just as a matter of nomenclature, Mr. Shepherd, you said the test period.  As you know, there are different terms being used.  So the test period is actually, in this application, technically 2013, and 2014 is the ICR period, and I understand you want the information for both those years?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  Indeed.  End of 2014.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking JT1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  FOR THE PERIOD UNTIL THE END OF THE TEST PERIOD, TO PROVIDE THE COST IN METERS IN RATE BASE FOR CONVERTED BUILDINGS, AND RANGE OF COSTS IN GS UNDER 50 AND GS OVER 50.

MR. HELT:  I understand Mr. Garner has a follow-up, if Mr. Shepherd has finished.  Yes?


MR. GARNER:  Yes.  Thank you, I do.  And I apologize.  Mine are stuck in some of the OM&A questions.  I see one here on suite metering.


This is in regards to VECC Interrogatory No. 41, and the Consumer council's Interrogatory No. 15.


And in those interrogatories you were asked, basically, two questions about OM&A and capital costs on suite metering.


MR. SULTANA:  Sorry, can you just repeat the issue number?


MR. GARNER:  Sorry, I don't know what the issue number is; I only have right now what the interrogatory numbers are -- VECC IR 41 and CCC IR No. 15 -- and it would be under one of the smart metering...


MS. GIRVAN:  I think it's under the O&M.


MR. GARNER:  Is it under O&M?  Yes, that's why my question was stuck under OM&A.


I can tell you what's in the interrogatories.  It's not very difficult.


MS. GIRVAN:  It's Issue 4.1.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


One interrogatory - I believe it's from the Consumer Council - asked you the question about tracking costs for suite metering in light of the Board's decision to have Toronto Hydro track costs for its suite metering program, and you indicated in the response that you are tracking capital costs, and you provided that in response to one of the interrogatories.


But my question is:  Is it your intention to begin tracking suite metering OM&A costs separately, in light of what the Board's direction is with Toronto Hydro?  And if not, why not?


MR. SULTANA:  I think that question would be better directed to the OM&A panel.


0MR. GARNER:  Which is the issue it's under.  Fair enough, then.


MS. HELT:  Are there any further questions for this panel?


No?  All right, then.


Thank you very much, witnesses.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  I will ask you to...


MS. HELT:  As we prepare for witness panel 2, I would suggest that we proceed this morning until approximately quarter after 11:00 or so, but we will see where it might be convenient to take a morning break.  And then we will continue after that, but just to let parties know that we will be taking a morning break around quarter after 11:00.

ENERSOURCE HYDRO MISSISSAUGA INC. - panel 2


Danny Nunes


J.P. Michaud


James Macumber


Edlira Gjevori


Gia DeJulio


Doug Morrison


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  I now turn to the second panel, indicated as panel number 2, and the issues and topics that they will be addressing are set out in the communications to the Board and intervenors.


I will ask each member of the panel to introduce themselves and their area of evidence, starting furthest down the line.


MR. NUNES:  I am Danny Nunes, director of IT.


MR. MICHAUD:  Good morning.  I'm J.P. Michaud.  I'm the senior manager of substations and facilities.


MR. MACUMBER:  James Macumber, vice president of finance.  I am going to be looking after OM&A, the two-year capital module or their incremental capital and return, and general financial statements in IFRS.


MS. GJEVORI:  Edlira Gjevori, capital manager responsible for fixed-asset part of the rate base, additions, depreciation, derecognition, the IFRS aspect impacting fixed asset.


MR. MORRISON:  Doug Morrison, senior manager of overhead construction and standards, and I will be responsible for the asset management plan, capital expenditures, OM&A expenditures with respect to the engineering and operations division.


MS. DeJULIO:  And I am Gia DeJulio, the director of regulatory affairs, and I will help with answers on questions with respect to general topics and Issue 1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry to jump in, but just before you go on, a couple of witnesses said they were dealing with questions on OM&A.  That's not this panel.


MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.  We had suggested we would handle OM&A on the third panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So they will be on that panel, but they're not --


MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- they're not -- we don't have to ask our OM&A questions now.


MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you.  With that, I don't know what is the order of questions, but I will hand it over to you, Ms. Helt.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.


Are any of the intervenors prepared to ask their questions first?  Yes, Mr. Faye.

Questions by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Thank you.  Randy Aiken is not in the room.  He is in the Union proceeding.  But he has given me his questions, and I thought to ask them first so that if he had follow-up questions he would be able to do so.  I may not be able to ask the follow-up question, not being that much familiar with his material here.


So I am going go ahead and ask them, and then if he gets back in the room afterwards I can brief him on the answers that he might want to follow up on.  I would like to reserve for him the right to follow up a little later after the rest of the intervenors have asked.  Any objections to that, Mr. Vegh?


MR. VEGH:  Why don't we see how it goes.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  His first question concerns Board Staff IR 2, and he asked that you please identify the costs and revenues associated with the fees from Appendix K of the conditions of service and explain where in the evidence these costs and revenues are shown.


MR. VEGH:  That was in the interrogatories.  Is there an additional question?


MR. FAYE:  I am presuming that Mr. Aiken did not find in the interrogatory response the information that he is asking for.  I see that Appendix K is referenced in the response, and his question is to identify the costs and revenues associated with the fees for Appendix K.  Does that make sense to the panel?


MS. DeJULIO:  I can tell you that this is a reference to Appendix K of Enersource's conditions of service.  We did not file the conditions of service, because our application gave a link to it.  It's a document over 200 pages long, and we thought it would just be so much easier for folks to click on that link in our application.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  Thanks for that.  I'll pass that on to him and see if he wants to follow that further.


His second question is on general filing requirements, and it's Board Staff No. 5, appendix 2A, and what he asks there is to please file a copy of appendix 2-1, the capital projects table that includes data for the 2014 ICR year.


MS. GJEVORI:  We filed appendix 2A based on the Board form, and the Board form had up to 2013.


MR. FAYE:  But you are asking for an ICR year?  Am I right?


MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, we are.  We can provide that information, but that information already is presented in the list of major business cases, which could be found in

-- just a second.  It's schedule 2, tab 2 -- so it's Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 2, appendix 2.  We present in there a list of project business cases, and that includes 2014 business cases over 645,000, which is our materiality threshold.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Peter, let me jump in.  Before you leave that, there was a specific request to add 2014 to an existing piece of evidence.  Will you undertake to do that?


MS. GJEVORI:  Sure, absolutely.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. FAYE:  I will ask one follow-up there --


MS. HELT:  Just -- oh --


MR. FAYE:  Go ahead.


MS. HELT:  As part of the undertaking, Mr. Faye?


MR. FAYE:  No, as part of something they said prior to Mr. Shepherd confirming that an undertaking was going to be given.


MS. HELT:  All right.  So that will be Undertaking JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO ADD THE DATA CONCERNING 2014.

MS. HELT:  Go ahead, Mr. Faye.


MR. FAYE:  You gave a number on materiality threshold just prior to that exchange with Mr. Shepherd, and it was 645,000?


MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, it is.


MR. FAYE:  Could you just educate me on where that materiality threshold comes from?


MS. GJEVORI:  That is shown in Exhibit 1, tab 4, schedule 1.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.


The next question concerns Issue 1.1, and it's Energy Probe No. 1.  And the question concerns part (a) response, and is, in calculating the revenue requirement impact for 2014, has Enersource reflected the higher return on equity, higher depreciation, and higher CCA deductions?


MR. MACUMBER:  We haven't changed the rate of return.  We have updated it for depreciation and CCA.


MR. FAYE:  So are you saying you haven't changed the rate of return?


MR. MACUMBER:  We have kept the rate of return at 912 for both years.


MR. FAYE:  But the revenue requirement has been adjusted to reflect higher depreciation and higher CCA.


MR. MACUMBER:  And higher PILs, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Part (b) response, Mr. Aiken notes that it does not answer the question that he asked, and he says a significant portion of the 2013 and 2014 capital expenditures are for replacement assets, and that these new assets will likely require less maintenance than the old assets being retired at the end of their life, and he would like to have explained how Enersource has taken into account reduced OM&A costs considering the increase in new assets for 2014.


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say that how we do our budget is we do the longest long-term -- lowest long-term owning costs.  Certain assets may be replaced, which displaces repairs and maintenance expenses, but other assets will age that have to be repaired and maintained.


There is -- there may be certain assets that are replaced that have lower costs, but other assets will age.  There is no significant savings from our system from putting in new assets.


MR. FAYE:  That's an interesting point of view.  I am just thinking about it for a minute, that -- there is no advantage in OM&A costs for rebuilding your system?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  I am saying that the assets that are replaced may replace certain OM&A costs, but the assets that are aging will have other repairs and maintenance costs.


MR. FAYE:  And that the two offset themselves?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  What I am saying is we would look at the lowest long-term owning costs of our assets; certain times we repair them, certain times we rebuild them.


MR. FAYE:  I am still a little slow on this subject, I think.


The lowest long-term owning cost is a combination of the depreciation that you still have to take, plus the cost you think you will incur to repair and maintain them over a certain period of time; have I got that right?


MR. MACUMBER:  It's either you are going to have it as depreciation expense, or do you maintain it or rebuild it?


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So there is some sort of -- if you could see it in a graphical representation, you could draw a line for your expected maintenance costs, and you could draw a line for your cost of capital, and where the two cross that's your sort of break-even point, and from there, you decide?


MR. MACUMBER:  That would be the ideal situation, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think I understand where you are going.


I still don't understand, though, why new assets wouldn't have some impact on your absolute value of OM&A costs.  Surely it costs less to maintain a new asset than it does to maintain an old one?


MR. MACUMBER:  I think what I am trying to say is because our assets are aging, by replacing the assets that we are putting in, we actually need to be replacing at a much faster pace to keep OM&A in check.


We will have increased OM&A costs due to other constraints.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think I understand what you are saying.  Your OM&A costs are increasing at a more rapid rate because your fleet is aging, and unless you replace them, then your growth on OM&A will not be linear.  It will be some sort of geometric curve?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, I think we have put in the evidence, under Exhibit 2, tab 2, where we describe our asset management plan, what we put into the system, trying to trade off between our resource constraints, our financial constraints, and we try to make the best possible decision for ratepayers and our shareholders.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.  I think I can explain it to Mr. Aiken, and if he has a follow-up question, he will do it.


His next question is Issue 1.1, Energy Probe 2, and he says:

"Based on this response..."


The response to the interrogatory.

"...am I correct that Enersource refuses to provide information on any other approach to setting rates, including the third-generation IRM approach, which is the Board's current policy?"


MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Faye, can I get you to please repeat that question?


MR. FAYE:  Sure.  Based on the response to this IR, is Mr. Aiken correct that:

"...Enersource refuses to provide information on any other approach to setting rates, including the third-generation IRM approach, which is the Board's current policy?"


MS. DeJULIO:  Enersource -- this is Enersource's proposal.  We have provided information to support the ICR for the second year, 2014.  I am not quite sure what else it is that you are looking for, Mr. Faye.


MR. FAYE:  Well, I think what Mr. Aiken is trying to point out is that if you don't provide a comparable analysis for rates that would be your standard IRM approach, you know, a rebasing in your test year and then three years of IRM, how is the Board able to decide whether the ICR approach is better, or that the IRM approach is better?  They don't have the data.


MR. VEGH:  So you are getting into the question of how is the Board to decide; obviously, the Board will decide the evidence based -- the case based on the evidence and the arguments in front of it.


Enersource has tried to provide all the information requested with respect to what it's proposing, and what the costs of capital will be in 2014 if the ICR proposal is adopted.  And that's the case Enersource is trying to make.


If Mr. Aiken or you or other intervenors or Board Staff are of the view that the IRM model is better for that year, presumably you have information in support of that.


Enersource isn't in a position now to quantify the cost of an alternative approach to 2014, other than the one that Enersource has put forward.


MR. FAYE:  Well, I hear what you are saying, but I am also cognizant of the fact that the Board's standard procedure is an IRM approach.  And without providing the Board with that evidence, it seems to us that perhaps they don't have the evidence in front of them needed to make the decision on whether your ICR proposal is correct.


But all that aside -- I don't want to stray into argument here -- I think I hear you saying no, you are not going to provide the comparable scenario for IRM.


MR. VEGH:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.


The next question concerns the same issue, 1.1, School's 7, School's 8 and Board Staff 3.


Mr. Aiken says:

"Based on the updated evidence from Board Staff 3 and the approach taken in response to School's 7 and School's 8, please disaggregate the increase in the 2014 deficiency of 3,306,448 into the return on equity, the cost of interest, PILs, depreciation and any other component of the increase."


MR. MACUMBER:  I am sorry, are you asking for the change that we have made?  Or the questions that SEC had asked in their 7, 8, 9, which we confirmed his numbers were correct about what's return, what is the increase in PILs and what is the increase in depreciation?


MR. FAYE:  If that satisfies the request that you break down the 2014 deficiency into its component parts, then perhaps that would be satisfactory.


I am not certain that what you have just said addresses breaking down the 3.3-odd million into return on equity, cost of interest, PILs, depreciation and any other components.


MR. MACUMBER:  I guess what I am suggesting is SEC Interrogatory No. 7, he spells out how much is return, how much is PILs and how much is the depreciation of -- which we confirmed.


MR. FAYE:  I see on the screen return on equity, PILs, interest -- if you could just scroll down a little there -- amortization, and over on the right-hand side, that appears to add to 100 percent of the revenue deficiency.  All right.  I will refer Mr. Aiken to that and see if he is satisfied with it.


MR. MACUMBER:  Okay.


MR. FAYE:  Our next question is concerning Issue 1.2 and Energy Probe IR 2.  The question is, in part (d) of the response Enersource indicates that the proposed approach is just and reasonable because it smooths the amount of one-time rate increases for rebasing years under the current model and more accurately provides compensation for the cost of capital, and he asks, does Enersource agree that the 2014 increases as proposed by Enersource will be higher than they would be under third-generation IRM?


MR. MACUMBER:  I think what you are asking is our approach is to have the PILs return on amortization through rates rather than using an IRM.  I am not sure what inflation would be used or the stretch factor or other factors, so I cannot compare whether or not there would be more or less rate impact from our proposal.


MR. FAYE:  So I think what I heard you say is you don't agree, because you don't know what the effect of an IRM would have been on the rates; is that right?


MR. MACUMBER:  I think what we are suggesting is our way of setting rates, of adding in the capital for the following year, we believe is just and reasonable.  I cannot comment on whether or not it's the ICR or our method is better or worse or...


MS. GIRVAN:  Peter, can I just follow up?  So just to be clear, you didn't do that analysis, I mean, in assessing your options?  You didn't look at what 2014 would look like under IRM or IRM with an incremental capital module?  You didn't do that analysis?


MS. DeJULIO:  Ms. Girvan, you are right.  We did not do that analysis.  There were -- with respect to IRM there are unknowns, and we believed that the ICR proposal was, you know, the best proposal for ratepayers and shareholders, and that's why we went -- that's why we made this proposal for the 2014.


With respect to your question on ICM, that's correct, we did not run that model either.  A big factor in that decision to not run that model was the -- one of the criterion, which is -- one of the criteria, which is a criterion to have the capital expenditures being non-discretionary, and our capital expenditures for 2014, most of them, if not all of them, do not fall into that category.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks.


MR. FAYE:  So then without an analysis of the IRM process -- and I apologize if it seems to be overlapping backwards here on something I just sort of closed off -- what is the basis for your consideration of just and reasonable?  For most people, I think, just and reasonable rates, from the customer's perspective, is lowest reasonable rates you can get while still getting reasonable reliability, and if you have not made that analysis from a customer's point of view, how would you be able to convince them that the rates are just and reasonable?


MR. VEGH:  That's somewhat of a rhetorical question, Mr. Faye, and I think it relates to the discussion we had just a few minutes ago.  Enersource has put in its evidence in support of its proposal, and that's described in the pre-filed evidence and the rationale for including the 2014 ICR year, but we are not in a position to carry out a calculation which provides what the comparison would be if 2014 were an IRM year.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Yeah, I hear what you are saying, and I guess if the Board requested you to carry out that calculation for an IRM you would be prepared to do it.  I mean, you are not without resources to do that; right?


MR. VEGH:  Well, as the witness said, there are some unknowns right now, and you would have to make some assumptions about what goes into that.  But of course, you know, we will provide the Board with all the information that we have available and that's relevant.


But really, the merits of the proposal of the 2013 ICR year are trying -- or there is an attempt to demonstrate that in the evidence and in the interrogatory response, you know, with respect to the facts that relate to Enersource's proposal.  We have not put forward or purported to put forward evidence on what alternative proposals may look like.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can just follow up on that.  I may be misunderstanding what your witnesses are saying, Mr. Vegh, and so I am going to ask them to clarify the response to Ms. Girvan's question.


Normally when you ask for something that is out of the existing rate-making model that the Board has promulgated, you would say, well, first, can we fit within the standard way of doing it.  And am I to understand that you didn't take the step of seeing whether you could fit within the Board's model; is that right?


MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Shepherd, when you say "model" are you talking about ICM?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board has a set of rules for setting rates for LDCs.  It includes cost of service, it includes ICM, et cetera.  They are well-known rules.  Did you take the step of seeing whether you could fit within that set of rules?


MS. DeJULIO:  We did not take the step of seeing whether we could fit within the ICM for 2014.  Sorry, we looked at the criteria, one of which was, the capital expenditures for that year would be non-discretionary, and we knew that we could not meet that criterion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board has a number of decisions recently that have clarified the ICM and how it works.  Have you looked at those?


MS. DeJULIO:  I did look at a summary that was put together by the DRRTF, and Mr. Vegh actually presented that summary to the Board's initiative, the RRFE initiative.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  And that has loosened the ICM criteria; isn't that correct?


MR. VEGH:  I am not sure, in fact.  I think the -- you know, one of the concerns is that the current state of that criteria seemed to be in flux.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so what I am trying to understand is, the question I am meaning to ask, because it's not time for me to cross-examine yet, is -- and I'm trying not to desperately -- is, subsequent to those decisions did the company look at whether it could fit within the ICM?


MR. VEGH:  I think --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Mr. Vegh.  I am asking a question of your witnesses, so unless you are instructing them not to answer, I would like them to answer.


MR. VEGH:  Well, perhaps you could provide clarification of what it means to "fit within".


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in order to decide whether you will have sufficient revenue requirement under the Board's rules you have to actually do the math, so that's what I am asking.  Did you, subsequent to seeing that the Board was changing its approach, did you then look at whether you could fit within the Board's existing rules?


MR. VEGH:  Are you asking whether the applicant did a calculation of its revenue entitlement under the existing rules?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking whether it did anything to determine whether they fit within the Board's existing rules.


MR. VEGH:  I am just having difficulty with the concept of "fit within".  I think you are asking whether or not they carried out a calculation.  I don't know what it means to "fit within".


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sorry, it is sort of a -- it's not a technical term.  What I am trying to understand is, Enersource is asking the Board to make an exception in their case, to adopt a new rate-making methodology different from what the Board has currently approved.


So I am asking whether -- what steps the company has taken to determine whether it could live within -- live within; how is that?  Live within the existing rules that the Board has already promulgated for every other LDC.  What steps has the company taken?


MR. VEGH:  To calculate the financial consequences of?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I did not say "calculate."


MR. VEGH:  I don't know what you mean, "live within" or "fit within."


The company will continue to exist, whatever model the Board approved for 2014 rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then, do I understand that the company just didn't look at the Board's normal -- existing rules at all, said:  We don't have to look at those at all?


MR. VEGH:  Well, I think you have changed your question a few times now.  That is why I am trying to make it more concrete.


If you are asking about whether the company did the calculations, I think they have answered that question for you.


MR. GARNER:  Can I jump in, Jay?  Because maybe I can ask it a different way, and I think I have heard the answer given to Ms. Girvan.


I think what is perplexing to some of us is -- and maybe I will step-by-step with the questions.


The rate proposal in front of the Board today, who was that approved by at the highest levels at Enersource?  Who approved the rate application before the Board, in order for it to be submitted?  The board of directors?  The CEO?


Can you help me with that?


MS. DeJULIO:  Certainly the executives of Enersource and our president, and ultimately we did present this to our board of directors.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And in doing that presentation to the executive and board of directors, I guess what we are wondering or I am wondering is:  Was it explained to those people that there was a standard approach for applying for rates at the Ontario Energy Board that was the model we are talking about, the cost of service followed by an incentive period?  Was that explained to those people in that presentation?


MR. MACUMBER:  What we explained to our CFO, COO and CEO was that there was an IRM process with an incremental capital module.  We felt, though, because they were -- the capital that we were spending on could be discretionary or non-discretionary and the way that the current IRM period was, is that by spending what we were going to on capital, that we would not get the return on it or the amortization collected through rates.


And we proposed to them that, because there was a renewed regulatory framework on the process, that capital was a big concern, is that we should attempt to address it with our cost of service application.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


In the present --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mark, can I just...


What was the relationship with the renewed regulatory framework to this analysis?


MR. MACUMBER:  Because what we are trying to suggest is that throughout the industry there is a lot of assets that are aging, there is a lot of capital that has to be replaced.  It's not just at Enersource.


So we knew that there was some conversations going on at the OEB with this process, to how did they address this huge capital spend that is going to happen in the province.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand how that affects --


MS. DeJULIO:  I can help you out, perhaps, a little bit, in that we developed this proposal, you know, being informed by the fact that the Ontario Energy Board had this consultation or this initiative, the RRFE initiative.


And so we knew that, as Mr. Macumber describes, there are conversations going on in the industry and discussions and consultation to look at the treatment of capital.  And knowing that there was this, I guess, reception for treating capital differently, we decided to come up with our proposal that would treat capital differently for 2014, and we developed the ICR model.


MR. SHEPHERD:  See, this is what I don't understand.  When you refer to renewed regulatory framework, it's sort of strange to me.


I don't understand why you wouldn't just -- if the Board is going to have a new set of rules that would recognize capital, why wouldn't you just wait for the new rules?


MS. DeJULIO:  It was very doubtful that we would see new rules in time for 2014.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't expect that the Board will come out with a change that will be applicable for 2014 and beyond; is that your current view?


MS. DeJULIO:  I am not sure.  I am really not sure.


But we knew we had to file our cost of service rate application by April 27, which meant a lot of work four to six months in advance.  Basically, decisions had to be made that far in advance for a filing date of April 27, and that's where, obviously, we started thinking about capital and what we would do for 2014, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You said there was presentation to your board of directors; when was that?


MS. GIRVAN:  Jay, we asked for that.  And it's at CCC Issue 1.1, No. 1.


And my question was going to be:  Is this all of the material that was presented to the board of directors?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. DeJULIO:  Are you asking that question now?


MS. GIRVAN:  Well, I guess we are talking -- I guess Jay wanted to see the presentation, so I was just going to bring it up and we might as well deal with it now.


MS. DeJULIO:  I can say that that was the one and only presentation and package of materials that we made to the board of directors.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks.


MS. HELT:  I see that Mr. Aiken has returned.  Perhaps he can --


MR. FAYE:  He is going to take over.


MS. HELT:  -- take over for Mr. Faye.

Questions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.


I think where we were was -- or where Mr. Faye was was Issue 1.2, Energy Probe No. 2.


And my next question on that was:  Given your lack of a proposal for 2015 and '16, can you without any doubt state that the increases for those years will be smooth?


MR. MACUMBER:  I am going to assume that we will continue to run our utility efficiently and effectively, and that we will spend on OM&A and capital to service our customers.


I cannot comment right now what that means.


MR. AIKEN:  So you don't know what that means in terms of rates?  Because at this point, I understand your evidence to say that you don't know how rates for 2015 and '16 are going to be set; is that correct?


MS. DeJULIO:  We don't know yet because we don't have a decision from the Board on this request for 2013 and '14.  We also don't know what the outcome of the RRFE initiative has.  So there are a lot of unknowns still, so we can't make any kind of comments on what 2015 and '16 rates will be.


MR. AIKEN:  The next part of the question:

"Does the inclusion of the 2014 capital and the 2013 capital on a full-year basis, along with the return on capital, depreciation and PILs all baked into rates, reduce the incentive for Enersource to improve productivity related to capital expenditures and/or the cost of capital compared to the third-generation IRM approach?"


MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Aiken, we can refer you to the asset management plan, which is Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 2, appendix 1, and it's quite detailed on the need for this capital spend.


If we need to answer questions on any of those, we would be happy to try to help clarify.


Your question about productivity, I mean, you know, we know that we have to make these expenditures in order to maintain safety and reliability of our system.


I am not sure what else I can tell you about the asset management plan.  My colleagues can certainly answer more of the details for you on those, on any questions on those details.


But, you know, we have to -- in our proposal, you know, we are aiming to increase and improve productivity, and that's reflected in our OM&A ask, which is flat in '14 from '13.


MR. AIKEN:  Would Enersource be willing to have an earnings sharing mechanism applicable to 2014 and/or subsequent years?


MR. VEGH:  I think we would have to take that under advisement, and perhaps if that's something to discuss at the ADR or offline, but we are not in a position to give an answer to that vague a question at the technical conference.  I think we would rather -- it would be more productive to go through the evidence, and if there are clarifications on some of the facts in the evidence to -- that can be elucidated upon.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, can you expand then upon what types of changes to your proposal you may be willing to entertain for 2014?


MR. VEGH:  We are not going to negotiate changes to the proposal for 2014 in a technical conference.  I think what we are in a position to do is explain that proposal in a way that will help you and help the record to provide a better understanding of that proposal.


MR. AIKEN:  Fine.  We will deal with that later.


With respect to the more accurate compensation for the cost of capital, please confirm that the Enersource approach is more of a guarantee on the compensation for the cost of capital, in that Enersource would not have to have any productivity improvements whatsoever other than on OM&A to achieve its overall return on capital.


MR. MACUMBER:  We believe that's our best forecast at this time of what we are going to be spending in 2014.  We have just as much risk that we will overspend as we would underspend, so at this time that's what we would be proposing for 2014.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  My next question refers to Board Staff No. 11 under Issue 1.2.  The response indicates that Enersource will review its options for 2015 and 2016 rate applications upon receiving the Board's decision in this application.  However, Issue 1.2 -- and I quote -- "what is the appropriate approach to set rates for 2015 and '16", is an issue in this application.


So my first question is, please provide Enersource's approach to setting rates for 2015 and '16 in the event that the Board approves the 2014 approach or some other approach other than third-generation IRM.


MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Aiken, we do not have a proposal for 2015 and 2016 on how the Board should set rates.


MR. AIKEN:  So is Enersource agreeing that it will not provide any evidence to assist the Board in determining this issue as part of this application?


MS. DeJULIO:  We haven't been asked -- you know, we haven't made any calculations, because we haven't been asked to make any calculations.  There would be a tremendous number of assumptions to make in any kind of calculation for 2015 or '16.


MR. AIKEN:  But you still agree that the Board will be making a determination in this application based on the inclusion of the issue in this proceeding?


MR. VEGH:  The Board will make whatever determinations it considers appropriate.  Enersource is advised that it is not in a position to advise what it will apply for for 2015 and 2016, and the reasons for that are given in the interrogatory response.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, maybe you missed part of Mr. Aiken's question, and maybe I can follow up.  I guess what we are concerned with is, is Enersource going to make a proposal in this proceeding with respect to 2015 and '16?  If your answer is no, that's great.  We just want clarity, that's all.


MR. VEGH:  Enersource will not be making a proposal in this application for rates for 2015 and 2016.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Thank you.


MR. GARNER:  Can I just follow up then?  The other part of that question was, it's on the issues list what is the appropriate approach, so I guess the question is is, how does Enersource answer the issue of that, so the -- that is what I am lost with.  I don't know how you are answering that issue on the issues list.


MR. VEGH:  So right now Enersource does not have a position on that issue.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Aiken, just before you continue, while you were out of the room I had suggested that we would be taking a morning break at quarter after 11:00 if it was appropriate.  I don't know how much longer you anticipate being with your questions for this panel.


MR. AIKEN:  Probably just a few more minutes, but I have just finished an hour and a half of cross-examination in the other room, so I would like a break now, if I could.


MS. HELT:  You would rather not finish with your questions right now?


MR. AIKEN:  That's right.


MS. HELT:  If that's all right with everybody else, then we will take our morning break until 25 to 12:00.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 11:17 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:37 a.m.

MS. HELT:  All right.  If we can resume, please, during the break Board Staff did hand out copies of the redacted version of the investor presentation, which was marked earlier this morning as KT1.2.


Before Mr. Aiken continues with his questions, I understand, Mr. Shepherd, that you had a preliminary matter you wanted to raise?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I do.  I have had a chance to read the shareholders' agreement now that is filed as a response to SEC No. 5.


And I am not going to talk about what's in it, of course, because it's a confidential document, but I looked at the witnesses who are going to be here over these two days and I didn't see anybody to me that looked to me like they would be able to respond to questions on the details of that shareholders' agreement, and why things are what they are there.


And I wonder if there is -- if one of the people here is able to do that, or if not, can you bring somebody tomorrow to respond to those questions?


MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Shepherd, one of the reasons why we had a hard time filing that agreement is because it wasn't negotiated -- Enersource wasn't a party to the negotiations.  It was completely negotiated between the two shareholders.


So we have no one within Enersource who could answer questions about that agreement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But Enersource is bound by the agreement; right?


MS. DeJULIO:  We are bound by, yes, certain provisions that -- for example, the dividend policy.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's not talk about it on the record.


MS. DeJULIO:  Sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  But -- so I guess -- is there somebody on your executive team that is knowledgeable in how this agreement affects the utility?


MR. VEGH:  Mr. Shepherd, I think the person that you will have in front of you who is the most qualified to answer these questions would be Mr. Macumber, so I suggest you put your questions to him.


If he can't respond to them, then we will consider undertakings to get responses.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  If you believe that your witness will be able to answer the questions, then that's fine.


MR. VEGH:  Well, as I said, he is in the best position to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I know but I think the Board's order is you have witnesses here who can answer questions on your evidence, so if you have somebody who can answer questions on your evidence, that's great.


If not, then I am giving your fair warning that tomorrow I am going to look for somebody who can.


MR. VEGH:  Well, let's see how it goes.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.


Just before Mr. Aiken resumes with his questioning -- and I am certain all parties are aware of this, but I would just like to remind parties that this is a technical conference and it's not a time to either be cross-examining or making argument.


And so to the best of everyone's ability, if we can ensure that we do frame our comments as questions with respect to the application, the interrogatory responses, the evidence, matters related to the interrogatories.  Thank you.


Mr. Aiken?

Continued Questions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  I want to go back to probably the first question that Mr. Faye asked you this morning on Energy Probe's behalf.  And just to refresh your memory, it was the general issue Board Staff IR No. 2, and the question was:

"Please identify the costs and revenues associated with the fees from appendix K of the conditions of service and explain where in the evidence these costs and revenues are shown."


I understand the response given was a link to your website.  And I wasn't so much looking for the fees or what the services were, but where -- any costs associated with providing those services, if they were included in your evidence, and if so, where.  And similarly, any revenues generated from the fees from those services.


Or -- I mean, one possible answer is that these might be costed on an incremental basis, and therefore there is nothing in your costs in the revenue requirement for the cost, and similarly nothing in the revenues?


MR. MACUMBER:  What we have stated there is if we do work this on a cost-recovery basis, any kind of cost is removed on our "Recoveries" line.


We have not included any revenues or any costs associated with those types of work.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Then my next question is Issue 1.4, Energy Probe No. 1.  The response indicates that 1.7 million of the OM&A expenditures in 2013 are related to improving the SAIDI and SAIFI results.


So I just want to stop there.  Have I got that right?


MR. MORRISON:  Sorry, did you say 1.4 million?


MR. AIKEN:  1.7 million.


MR. MORRISON:  Yes.  The answer to the interrogatory lists the amount that we are spending to sustain our reliability.


MR. AIKEN:  In the list of items that follows the 1.7 million amount, the items only total about 980,000.


So what is the other $780,000 related to?


MR. MORRISON:  I believe there is an error in the response for substations inspecting, testing and maintenance.  That cost should be significantly higher.  That would make up the majority of the difference.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the largest expenditure shown there is $650,000 for preventative tree maintenance -- or tree trimming.


How much did you spend on preventative tree trimming in each of 2007 and 2011, and what's your forecast for 2012?


MR. MORRISON:  I don't have those figures in front of me right now.  But we intend to increase the preventative tree trimming in 2013.


MR. AIKEN:  Will you undertake to provide the 2007 through 2011 actuals and the forecast for 2012?


MR. MORRISON:  Yes, we will.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking JT1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.5:  TO PROVIDE ACTUAL COST FOR PREVENTATIVE TREE TRIMMING 2007-2011, AND FORECAST COST FOR 2012.

MR. GARNER:  Can I just ask if also the interrogatory will be corrected, or if that will be part of the undertaking, so that the substation amount is the correct amount?


MR. MORRISON:  Yes, we can correct the interrogatory.


MS. HELT:  Do you want that marked as an undertaking, Mr. Garner?


MR. GARNER:  Just for the record, maybe, just to track it.  And then it will be sent in, as I understand it, just as a correction to the interrogatory.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking JT1.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.6:  TO CORRECT RESPONSE TO ISSUE 1.4, ENERGY PROBE IR NO. 1 TO REFLECT COST OF SUBSTATIONS INSPECTING, TESTING, AND MAINTENANCE.

MR. AIKEN:  Any next question is on the response to Energy Probe No. 6 under Issue 2.1:

"What is the basis for the statement at the bottom of the response that the Board will not review for prudence the capital expenditures for 2009 to 2012?"


MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Aiken, can I please get you to repeat that question?


MR. AIKEN:  "What is the basis for the statement at the bottom of the response that the Board will not review for prudence the capital expenditures for the years 2009 to 2012?"


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, which IR was that again?


MR. AIKEN:  Energy Probe No. 6, Issue 2.1.  It's in the last paragraph of part (b).


MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Aiken, my understanding and Enersource's understanding is that the Board does not review for prudence the capital expenditures for the years between the cost of service rebasing applications.


MR. AIKEN:  Does Enersource agree that the capital expenditures in 2009 through 2012 affect the proposed rate base for 2013 and 2014, which is an issue in this proceeding?


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  My next question is on VECC IR -- sorry, just a moment.


MR. FAYE:  If I could just quickly follow up, if my memory serves, you were required by the filing guidelines to provide a variance analysis on various costs, capital being one of them, for the IRM period, and you have provided a sort of a general analysis saying, you know, Year over year we were higher or lower and here are the general reasons.  Is that all of the variance analysis that's in the evidence? I couldn't find any more, but if you could refer me to more.  It's not very specific.


MS. GJEVORI:  We have known the variance of capital expenditures year over year, and that is Exhibit 2, tab 2, schedule 1.  It shows variances from 2008 to 2009, '10, and we list specifically what are those variances.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That is the one that I found.  And I am wondering, if my memory serves again, do the filing guidelines not ask you to observe materiality limits and, in the case where you meet the materiality threshold, that you are to provide detailed business plans and cases to support those expenditures?  Am I correct on that, or is that -- have I misread that?


MS. GJEVORI:  It's our understanding that the filing requirements -- the filing guidelines requires you to provide variance explanations, and it does not specify that you have to provide detailed business cases on all of those projects.


MR. FAYE:  Even if they exceed your materiality threshold.


MS. GJEVORI:  You have to explain variances only for the ones that meet threshold, yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And what you have in the evidence is your total variance explanation.  There isn't anything more; is that right?


MS. GJEVORI:  There are details for those variance explanations.


MR. FAYE:  Other than in the E2.2.1 that you just quoted?  Is there another section of business-case justifications, for instance, for projects that exceeded the materiality threshold and contributed to the variance in those years?


MS. GJEVORI:  No, this section provides all the capital expenditures.


MR. FAYE:  That's it.  Okay.  Thanks.


MR. AIKEN:  My next question, and my last question for this panel, is VECC Interrogatory No. 6, under Issue 2.1, and the response to part (c) says that Enersource will provide year-to-date figures to June 2012 once the period is closed.


So my first question is, has this period now closed?  My second question is, were some of these -- or was this answer provided in some of the updates that were filed in the last few days?  And Part 3 of the question would be, will you file the year-to-date figures if they haven't already been filed?


MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, the response to part (c) of this question has been filed with the update of July 27th.


MR. AIKEN:  Does the July 27th update also provide answers to a number of other interrogatories that had the same response that the year-to-date figures for June 2012 would be provided once the period was closed?


MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.  The July 27th filing update included all of the responses that were asking -- all of the IRs that were asking for year-to-date, so we waited to close the June books and we provided those answers.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


Ms. Girvan?

Questions by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I just have a few questions.


If you could turn to Exhibit -- or Issue 1.1, CCC -- hang on a second.  I am getting confused -- CCC No. 2.  And this is -- the question was about providing copies of all materials provided to Enersource's senior management and board of directors when seeking approval for the 2013 budget.


And can you just explain to me, what is this document that's been provided?  Where does it come from?  It looks like it's -- I am -- anyway, if you can explain that to me that would be great.


MR. MACUMBER:  Each year we put together a budget, we file the time line of the budget and one of the other IR responses.  This is the Enersource Hydro Mississauga portion of our yearly budget that was provided to the Board in December for approval.


Even though we give a three-year forecast, they are actually only approving the 2012 budget at that time.  They just want an outlook of where the company is going.  So this is the internal budget that was presented to the board of directors in December.


MS. GIRVAN:  So it's part of a larger document, and this is just specific to 2013, or --


MR. MACUMBER:  2012 --


MS. GIRVAN:  -- 2012.


MR. MACUMBER:  -- this would be the 2012 budget.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I guess what I was looking for is, what was provided when seeking approval of the 2013 budget?


MR. MACUMBER:  Again, we presented presentation about our cost of service and where we were going with it, but nothing was presented to our board of directors yet for the 2013 budget, because we are doing the cost of service right now, and we will be presenting our budget for 2013 in December.


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh so they don't approve the rate filing?


MR. MACUMBER:  Not directly, no.


MS. GIRVAN:  No, okay.


Okay.  So 2013, those materials will go to the Board in December, you said?


MR. MACUMBER:  Our plan right now hopefully is to finish this cost of service, put together our budget, and get it approved for 2013 in December, the same time frame.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


If you can turn to issues -- Issue 2.1, CCC No. 4.  And this sets out major projects planned for 2012, '13, and '14, and it provides the in-service dates.


I guess what I was looking for, is this -- are these dates different than when you originally filed your application?  Has this been updated, or this is what's included in the application, and the rate base reflects that?


MR. MACUMBER:  The rate base reflects half-year

rule --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.


MR. MACUMBER:  -- all the assets going in in that year would go in at half the year.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  The request here was, when do we believe the actual date of service will be.


MS. GIRVAN:  That's right.  So I just wondered, does this document different -- like, for example, if you see some of these -- it would say December 13th -- December 2013.  Were -- all these assumptions on the forecast and service date, were all these included when you filed your application?  I guess...


MR. MORRISON:  The in-service dates are updated from when we filed the application.


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, they are.  Can you indicate what's changed?  You might need to undertake to do that, which in-service dates have changed.


MS. GJEVORI:  Actually, as part of the pre-filed evidence we had to list only the list of projects.  We did not have to provide the forecast in-service date.  This was done only as part of this IR response.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, and I guess what I am just looking for is, for example, if say you had in your initial budget assumed a December 13 in-service date, but now that's been changed to, say, June 2014.  That would reflect a change in your rate base?


MR. MORRISON:  Sorry, can you repeat the question, please?


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  What I am looking for is the impact of these in-service dates on your rate base, because if they have changed, then your rate base would change for 2013.


MR. MORRISON:  Any in-service date that's changed, there is a corresponding change with another in-service date.  So if one project is deferred, another project is advanced.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So your rate base, then, levels haven't changed as a result of these new or updated in-service dates?


MR. MORRISON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask a follow-up on that?  I am probably misunderstanding.


Just accidentally, when you had some things closing earlier and some things closing later, they just matched accidentally?  Or did you -- did you -- when you had something delayed, you said:  Well, we better move something up so that it stays the same?


MR. MORRISON:  Yes.  If we have something that has to be delayed for unforeseen circumstances, we would look for another project in the near future, to move to use those resources and balance off the budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a factor of your budgeting process, as opposed to your operational process?  That is to say you have a certain budget and you are making sure that if you are not going to spend it in this year, you are going to move something up so you can spend it in this year; is that fair?


MR. MORRISON:  It is just taking into account the best information we have at the time.  So if new information comes up, that a project cannot go forward as scheduled, we also do have new information on other projects, which make them more appropriate to do at that time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but that's the question I was trying to understand, is I said:  Is it just accidental that the speeding up and slowing down matches, or is it intentional?  And you said it was intentional.


Did I misunderstand that?


MR. MORRISON:  I am just not clear I -- I am not sure I understand the question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you speed up -- if you slow down some projects, if they are not going close to rate base, then your rate base is going to do down.


If you then speed up some other projects, so that the rate base goes back up to where it was, that can either happen because of accident or it can happen because you did it on purpose.


I thought you said you did it on purpose; is that right?


MR. MORRISON:  Yes, we do plan it, and we plan it to make the best use of our resources, the most efficient and best use of our resources.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. GIRVAN:  So you are saying that in light of these updated in-service dates, you don't see a need to update your rate base that you are seeking approval for?


MR. MORRISON:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. MACUMBER:  Just to be clear, we did file our forecasted capital for 2012, which is over the budget, and we have not updated any kind of rate base for that information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, is it going to change your rate base?


MR. MACUMBER:  We had not decided that.  I am just saying you asked about in-service dates and somebody had asked for a capital forecast, and we gave the forecast, which is higher than what was submitted.


At this time, we have not updated any rate base information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could you turn, then, to Issue 2.1, Energy Probe No. 6?


And I was curious about this answer that you gave to Mr. Aiken with respect to capital expenditures during the years 2009 to 2012.  At part (b) of his answer, it does ask you to provide details of the capital expenditures, including business, cases that were used to approve the expenditures.


Can you provide that?  And I would say for major projects incurred during that period, because I think it's certainly my view that, in looking at the opening balance in 2013, you have to go to what happened during 2009 to 2012.


MR. MACUMBER:  Yearly, we get our budget approved, like I had mentioned about the hydro budget.  And part of it is we get approved our capital expenditures by business unit, which we can provide from 2009 to '12.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking JT1.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.7:  TO PROVIDE CAPITAL EXPENDITURES BY BUSINESS UNIT FOR MAJOR PROJECTS, 2009-2012.

MS. GIRVAN:  I just have one further question.


Under Issue 2.2, CCC No. 1, the question is whether or not Enersource issued an RFP for the working capital study.  And the answer was no, that it was single-sourced to Navigant.


And I just wonder if you could explain why that decision was made, versus putting it out for an RFP?


MS. DeJULIO:  I think that our answer was that we undertook the working capital allowance study or lead-lag study within Enersource, we did that internally, and then we had Navigant review it.


The cost of that review was very small, and it did not justify going out for an RFP.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask one follow-up?


At one time during your answers you referred, witnesses, to a July 27th, 2012 update, and we have been looking around for a document that looks like that and haven't seen one.


Can you tell me what you are referring to?


MS. DeJULIO:  On July 27, we sent out an e-mail, and we filed by RESS a package of responses to IRs.  The package was sort of two-pronged -- excuse me.


One part of that package was responding to all the IRs that asked for year-to-date 2012 information, and then the other package was some IRs that had been missing from the first PDF we submitted on Monday of last week, which was July 23.


In the process of PDFing, we unfortunately just failed to pick up some of the responses.  They did go out in the hard copies, but we realized that they didn't make their way into the electronic version that was filed on the Monday.  So we sent out that update on July 27, which was Friday, and in fact we found a few more that missed that filing, unfortunately, and we sent out another e-mail yesterday afternoon.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So there wasn't -– "update" normally refers to your prefiled evidence -- there wasn't new prefiled evidence filed on Friday, but there was only additional interrogatory responses filed?


MS. DeJULIO:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Garner, would you like to go next?


MR. GARNER:  Certainly.


MS. HELT:  And, perhaps, do you have an estimate of how much time you think you will be?


MR. GARNER:  Well, I think I will be longer than the 20 minutes you are probably anticipating lunch to be at 12:30.


MS. HELT:  I was thinking we could take lunch at 1:00 o'clock, given we had a late morning break, if that's all right with everyone else.


MR. GARNER:  That sounds fine.  I may need the break myself in order to match up my questions with the various points of evidence in the filing, so I may need a little bit of time, so why don't we play it by ear, but I will go on, and we will go for one o'clock.


My first question, panel, is in respect to the general -- the issues under the general area, and this is, I believe, VECC Interrogatory 1.  And in that interrogatory, if someone could pull it up, that would be helpful.  I am just -- I will just try and do the same myself.  Yes, that's it, thank you.


In that interrogatory, what we were trying to understand is the difference between what was described as the hybrid approach in the Board's third-generation report and what's being proposed by Enersource.


And in that interrogatory response -- I am not sure it's responsive to the question -- the question was, what differences are between the hybrid approach described above and rejected in the Board's report and Enersource's proposal, because I thought that that was what was being discussed there, and perhaps you could comment on that.  Is there a difference between those two proposals, your proposal and what the Board is describing in that report?


MR. VEGH:  Mr. Garner, I think the, you know, the difficulty of answering a question like this is we take one paragraph out of a prolonged process and then seek to address a difference -- the differences, if any.  I would expect the answer that you have with respect to the preparation of evidence and how the approach described in that interrogatory did not have an impact on the presentation of the evidence goes to the facts underlying the application.


I think when it comes time to argument there could well be differences of opinion and of relevance with respect to this particular paragraph that's quoted from and asked for a comment upon.


MR. GARNER:  Well, let me go to what's in the extract.  And it's fairly straightforward, and all I think we're trying to -- I am trying to understand here is that in that extract, which is from the Board's report, there is a discussion about a hybrid approach with an indexed OM&A and capital costs that would be forecasted, and that in fact is your proposal, is it not, an indexed OM&A and capital costs that's going to be forecasted?


MR. VEGH:  No, the OM&A is frozen, so it's not in there.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Because after -- because you don't have a proposal right now for 2015 and '16.


MR. VEGH:  No, we are proposing a freeze on 2014 OM&A and certain components of capital cost to be included for 2014.  That is what is being proposed.


MR. GARNER:  Well -- and I am wary to get into asking counsel to give more evidence, but you said various points of capital costs.  I thought the proposal is for a capital forecast for 2014 in this proposal.  You have a forecast for capital of 2014, don't you?


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.


MR. VEGH:  So if you look precisely at what's being proposed, it's in the manager's summary.  And I can have -- you know, the witnesses would be happy to speak to that.  At Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 1 there is a proposal of -- there is a detail setting out what would be addressed in the 2014 ICR review.  I don't know if you have any questions on that proposal.


MR. GARNER:  My question, if we can put back the interrogatory that we are speaking to, my question is to understand from the panel if they see any real difference between what was discussed there and what's proposed by them.  Is there a difference in those proposals?


MR. VEGH:  That's right.  So you have our answer, and that's the answer to this question.  The proposal speaks for itself.  All of the information considered by the Board in its report on third-generation incentive regulation also speaks for itself, and there may be a debate on the consistency of approach.  I am not sure there is any further evidence on this point that the panel can help you with.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just ask a follow-up, Mr. Vegh?  You said that there may well be differences of opinion as to the relationship between your proposal and the Yatchew proposal of several years ago that will come up in argument.


Have we got the company's position on that in the evidence somewhere?


MS. DeJULIO:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we have it, please?


MS. DeJULIO:  We have not reviewed this Professor Yatchew study, and I would think that to pull it out or even to pull, you know, a few sentences out of it is, in my view, cherry-picking.  There would probably be other, you know, sentences scattered throughout this entire exercise that the Board went through, and, you know, that is not -- that's not our proposal, and, you know, we have -- we have not read it, we have not pulled it apart, we have not compared it to our own.  We have made our proposal, and that's what we ask the Board to assess.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I am sorry, and I am not trying to be argumentative.  I just want to know when we are going to hear your position on how it relates to what was rejected

-- what your current proposal relates to, to what the Board rejected some years ago.  Are we going to hear that at some point or not?


MS. DeJULIO:  We have given the answer that we have -- to this question here in the response.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a different question.  My different question is, are we going to hear that, your position, your company's position, on the relationship between the two.  If the answer is no, that's fine.


MR. VEGH:  So the company's position is that this is a matter for argument, and if you hear it, you will hear it there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And we won't hear your position on this until argument?


MR. VEGH:  We are not going to go through the Board's report with a cross-reference of the Board's report back then and our current position.  We are going to justify our position on its merits.  If the issue -- if it becomes relevant for the Board to hear party's position on how this proposal may be impacted by or may be compared to various reports that were provided several years ago in a Board process, we can always address those in argument.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so we'll hear -- so we will first hear of it in argument-in-chief or in reply?


MR. VEGH:  Well, it's going to be -- will be responsive to what the Board is addressing and what the Board is looking for, so I don't know whether that will come up in-chief or in reply.  We may get some direction from the Board panel in the course of the hearing.  I am not sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.
Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  And again, I am not trying to be argumentative or argue it, but I was trying to establish -- and I think I have heard a partial response, so I will say it back, and perhaps the panel can say if I have got it correct, is, one difference -- maybe not the only difference -- in this proposal and in that quote is that there isn't an adjustment to OM&A in your proposal.  There is a two-year -- a two-year proposal for OM&A based on your model and a capital adjustment.  That's what your model is; is that correct?


MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  And other than that you are saying is you don't have an opinion as to whether it's different from what the Board considered at that time, whether it could be or could not be.  You're not -- if I have heard Mr. Vegh's points, you don't have a position on that right now; that's correct?


MR. VEGH:  We said we don't have evidence on that right now.


MR. GARNER:  Evidence on that.  Thank you, that's -- I appreciate the correction.


If I go again -- and we may go down the same avenue with the next question -- again, I'm just -- my point here is to simply try and establish what it is that's different in this application from what it is that the Board's third-generation current policy is anticipating, et cetera.


And in this one what was extracted from there -- and again, it is an extraction from that -- this is an issue about the current policy, and I will just paraphrase what it says.


The current policy basically works fine, according to this expert, provided the capital expenditures of a utility's past experience and future experience are similar; i.e., that it's on a straightforward capital spending plan.


And as I understand this report, it went into issues about when that capital plan was extraordinary, and that went then into the issue of incremental capital modules, et cetera, et cetera, and made the Board's policy.


When we asked this question we were just trying to figure out, is, you weren't proposing this policy or your policy because you were having an extraordinary capital expenditure program.  Your capital expenditure program is pretty similar over the past five years past and five years forward; would that be correct?


MS. DeJULIO:  I think we may have described this as "business as usual."


Does that answer your question?


MR. GARNER:  Well, I think the question I am trying to establish -- or what I am trying to establish with some certainty is the utility isn't proposing this plan because it has some form of extraordinary capital program that is, in financial terms - it may not in substantive of what you are building - but in financial terms is different from the past.


Your capital program is in line with your past spending?


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say that our capital program goes with our planning process.  We look at financial constraints, resource constraints, and the need of our customers.


I would suggest, though, that our evidence implies that our capital expenditures is quite a bit significantly more than our depreciation, which is why we are suggesting this other method may be preferable.  Our capital expenditures haven't significantly increased, but they are outstripping depreciation.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


The next issue I would like to talk about is the new building.  I am actually not going to -- I think the reference is Exhibit 1, Issue 2.1, Board Staff No. 12, attachment 2.


And there is a discussion in there about the different costs of options.  Constructing a new building, I believe the number was 28.6 million.  Purchase of Derry Road, 25.6 million.  And leasing office space of 17.2 million.


The figures are -- I mean, if you take those as given, I am not –- I don't want any more information about the figures per se, but they are quite different.  The lease option was quite less expensive than all -- the other two options; is that right?


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, what's the reference again?


MR. GARNER:  It's Board Staff IR No. 12, Issue 2.1, I believe, attachment 2, page 5 of 101.


MS. GJEVORI:  And the question was?


MR. GARNER:  Well, the question I will give you in two parts.


One is:  Was the lease option -- and I think the evidence shows it was -- considerably cheaper by about $10 million?


What I couldn't find in the evidence was why the lease option was rejected.  I read in the evidence why the realtor did not look into it, because they said it didn't serve Enersource's purposes, but I never saw an explanation about why Enersource rejected the lease option.


MS. GJEVORI:  Actually, if you look at Exhibit -- no, it was as part of the response to Board Staff IR 12, page 6 of 101, you can see that we did analysis for the three options considered, and even though the lease term for the five-year period looked cheaper, considering that we have

-- for both option 1 and option 2, we have initial capital investment.


But if you look at that table, the annual inflows rate impact, what would ratepayers pay for each of those options, the lease -- option number 3, the leasing office space, is the most expensive option for the ratepayer.  They would have to pay -- or the annual inflow rate impact is 3.4 million, compared to 3 million, the purchase of 2185 Derry Road.


The reason why the lease, if you exclude actually the initial capital investment from option 1 and option 2, the leasing of office space would be even more expensive.


I am trying to say that the first two options they have, the initial capital investment included for that five-year period.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  So what's at attachment 2, page 5 of 101, which shows those figures of 28.6 to construct the building and 25.6 to purchase Derry Road, and then 17.2 to do a lease, would I be correct to say is you are saying that's not an analysis, that's simply what the realtor gave you as the cost difference between those three options, so it's not the analysis that you went on to do with what would be the fully-loaded costs, so to speak, of it?


Is that what the difference is?


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say that when we put -- this analysis was put together, they were looking at buying a building, buying a used building, or leasing one for, it looks like, 23 years.


What we did is we did the rate impact, is what Edlira was talking about, the annual rate impact to a ratepayer.


By leasing a building, you would have to continue to lease that in the future, even though we would own the building.  So this cost that they are putting here is not the same comparable period.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So if I can just follow up with one final question on that issue, is that then -- the reason the leasing option was rejected, you are saying, is simply it was more costly than the other options that were in front of you?


MR. MACUMBER:  One of the options is it is more costly.  Another one is that our need doesn't go away, so we figure by doing a lease, the need to have another building doesn't go away, so it didn't make business sense to do it, as well.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have in the evidence somewhere the detailed calculations of those rate impacts for the three options?


MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, we do.  And that was provided as a response to this IR, pages --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's attached to the IR?


MS. GJEVORI:  Yes.  So page 6, page 7, 8 and 9.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.


MR. GARNER:  Now, if I can change to the issue of need, and I believe this is in Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 5.  I am sorry, I am not sure what issue that's under, but it is an interrogatory that speaks to the number of employees who are moving between the -- to the new building.  And in that interrogatory, the response was that 52 of the people who are moving to the building are from Enersource Corporation, not the utility, and 98 are from the utility.


Now, I will give you a minute to find the interrogatory, Energy Probe No. 5.


MR. KILLEEN:  Issue 2.1.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you, Bill.  I was curious about that answer, and the need for a new building.  Of the 52 employees who are from Enersource Corporation and not the utility, I guess the simple question is this:  Why wasn't it an option to -- not to put too fine of a point on it -- kick the 52 people from the other affiliate out of your building, and simply maintain and use your building?  Was there that sort of analysis done?


MR. MACUMBER:  I think you are referring to how we have our corporate structure.  We have Enersource Corp., Enersource Hydro Mississauga, and Enersource Hydro Mississauga Services.


The Enersource Corp., the 52 employees are finance, HR, the CEO office, purchasing.  They provide services to the hydro company and the corporate services, for which the hydro company pays 93.4 percent of.


So all the services that the corporation provides are for the regulated and non-regulated businesses.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  And presumably, as part of that, does Enersource Corp. pays a cost or -- for the office space that it's utilizing from the utility for that service?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. GARNER:  I see.  And so, again, back to my question, was the issue -- was the issue of -- was it explored as to whether it was an option to have the Enersource Corporation, who are an affiliate group of people -- I understand they work closely with Enersource utility, but they are not the utility; they are a separate group; right?


Was there any discussion about having them simply relocate to a different place, as an option?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, it wasn't an option.  They work completely close with them.  I actually -- if you don't mind, answering your little matrix -- about our interaction between the companies, finance, HR, per se, we all work very closely hand in hand with the regulated side of the company.  It would not be efficient to move them to a different location.


MR. GARNER:  And are the new costs of this building forecast into the costs of -- for the new shared service cost for this group?  So the new hire cost, I take it, for having a building has been forecast into the application --


MR. MACUMBER:  Enersource Corporation would be allocated from the hydro company more costs due to the building, yes.


MR. GARNER:  And do you have an understanding of what that extra incremental cost will be for them?


MR. MACUMBER:  I can't tell you from the -- I can't tell you how much has been allocated extra to Enersource Corporation.  I can tell you that when it is allocated to Enersource Corporation, though, it would be allocated back out to the services company and to the hydro company.


MR. GARNER:  Ninety-eight-point whatever the figure is, it would be, and then a small portion would be retained by them.


MR. MACUMBER:  Would go to the non-regulated company.  The Enersource Corp. incurs costs and allocates 100 percent out to the affiliates.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  I was contemplating asking an undertaking for that figure, but your point would be it won't be a very large figure because most of it will be charged back to the utility.


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. GARNER:  All right.  I wonder if you could turn up in the evidence, actually, at Exhibit 1, tab 2, Schedule 1, page 4.  And this Table 1 that was provided in the evidence, I believe what it is trying to show is the lost

-- the costs of capital that are not being recovered under the current regime; is that correct?


MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Garner, would you repeat your question to us, please?


MR. GARNER:  Yes.  The first question was, perhaps the panel could help me understand what the table is showing me in the cost-of-capital column, so that -- or I could tell you what I think it's saying, but maybe you could tell me, what's that supposed to be telling the reader about 2009 to 2012?


MS. DeJULIO:  That column, cost of capital, is -- there is a note, number 2, and it tells you how that is calculated, which is the weighted average cost of capital multiplied by the cumulative investments in capital each of those years, and the purpose is to show the capital that Enersource must spend or does spend or has spent, I guess, every year since 2009, despite the fact that it does not earn any return on that capital.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  So would I be correct to say is what the third column is showing us is that those numbers between 172,000 and 4 million, those are showing the lost opportunities, so to speak, of the capital that was invested in the utility.  The utility lost that amount.  Would that be correct to state it that way?


MS. DeJULIO:  I don't know if I would call --


MR. MACUMBER:  I would characterize it as, that's the calculation of what the return would be.


MR. GARNER:  Would have been, but the utility didn't actually earn that or didn't get that or --


MR. MACUMBER:  Correct.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  I am not trying to be argumentative.  I just want to understand is, that is what that is.


When you -- there were a number of interrogatories on that table.  One was Board Staff Interrogatory 13, and another one, which is sequential -- I am sorry, I don't know the issue number -- the other one was CCC Interrogatory No. 1.  And unfortunately I don't know which of the number 1s that was.


But I am just referring you to those, because both of those go through a few questions about the table and whether the table presents a complete analysis of what you just described it to be, and my question was this:  In 2008, between Board-approved and 2008 actuals, as I understand the evidence, there was an underspending from what the Board had approved for the utility.  I think the number was somewhere around $4 million in capital expenditures less than the Board had approved.


MR. MACUMBER:  I think you are talking about rate base.  I think the capital was under for a piece of land that we didn't purchase beside us.  The rest is working capital allowance.


MR. GARNER:  So there was no difference in the 2008 capital -- proposed capital expenditures and the actual capital expenditures in 2008?


MS. GJEVORI:  We have actually provided that explanation on the variances of capital expenditures.  Let me clarify the 4 million you are referring to, which we responded as the response to one of the IRs.


We underspent only on the IT and other section.  And let me find the IR number.  That was -- that was CCC question number 1 on Issue 2.1.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  And my question -- and maybe I don't understand how the table is calculated right, but my question is, if the table that we are looking at, Table 1, is purporting to show the lost costs or the lost revenue of the return on that capital, wouldn't it also have been adjusted for the fact that the rates that were built in 2008 actually anticipate a different level of capital than you were getting returns on in any event?


So this, I think, went to the Board Staff's Interrogatory 2.  The analysis I am just asking doesn't seem quite complete, because the rates in 2008 were built on the premise of a certain rate base, certain capital expenditure, which did not in fact come to fruition for whatever reasons.  I am not interested right now in those reasons.  But that means the rate actually has embedded in it a certain level of capital and rate-base assumptions.


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say in 2008 our actual capital expenditures was more than the Board-approved.  Our rate base did not equal that, but what we are saying is the capital that we are spending each year, especially in 2008, it was even higher than what the Board approved.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  So looking at the table -- maybe I have got it backwards -- is you are saying is that if you looked at the table and you were to make an adjustment for the 2008 Board-approved versus actual, the table --


MR. VEGH:  Which table?


MR. GARNER:  Table 1, sorry, Table 1 of the actual main body of evidence.  Again, I am just trying to understand the table.  I am just trying to understand whether there should be an adjustment made for the difference between 2008 actuals and 2008 proposed in the rates and in this analysis that would show that lost amount of money of Enersource would change that figure for you at all.


MR. MACUMBER:  I think what this table is trying to convey is that the utility continuously invests in its system and is not earning a return on it based on the IRM formula the way that it's currently in place.  All it's trying to show is that between 2009 and 2012 that it's lost out on potential return on its capital investments.


MR. GARNER:  Yes, I think I understand the table, and I am certainly not being clear in my question.  My question really is, is that table must -- or I thought that table is really showing also what -- you invested capital in 2009.  That investment, let's say in 2009, and the figure that you have got there, was 2,385,000, if you see the column that we are looking at in 2009, annual investment in capital.


But in 2008 that column would have been -- the rates that were derived for the utility, that column would have had a number, and you either met that number or you didn't meet that number; right?


And I am just trying to figure out is, what would be the net difference in 2009?  So, for example, if in 2008 you told the Board you were going to spend $2 million and you spent $1 million, you would have, in fact, had an under-investment in your capital and a rate that anticipated a higher investment.  And then the next year you would have had 2.3 million invested, and someone would argue with you and say:  Yeah, but you really didn't invest $1 million the year before that, so it's not really a good analysis in that way.


That's what I am trying to figure out in my mind, what happened to 2008.


MR. MACUMBER:  I am going to assume that when we did our last cost of service in 2007 for 2008, we had assumed that our CIS would go live in 2008.  There were delays in it, and we didn't go live until 2009.  So our working -- or work in progress was actually $12 million.


So if I went back to 2008, what was in -- what we had actually spent in capital and my average net fixed assets for rates may have been different, but the money was still being spent.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


In Energy Probe Interrogatory 19 - this is about vehicle replacement - there was an interrogatory, their Interrogatory 19 that talked about a three-to-five year policy for vehicle replacement.


And I believe in that interrogatory it uses the term "contractual obligations" in respect of these vehicles, and I was trying to figure out what that meant.


Does someone have that interrogatory out?  It's Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 19.


MR. MACUMBER:  I think what they are talking about contractual, is executives are provided with a vehicle, and in their contract it's every three years.


MR. GARNER:  I see, because, yes, it seems like a short period.  And that's the reason it's different than, for instance, bucket trucks, which are five to seven years.


Is that for all light vehicles or just a subset of light vehicles?  I'm...


MR. MACUMBER:  Just the subset.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Okay.  Thank you.


I would like to go to School's Interrogatory No. 13.  Sorry, I don't have an issue number.  My apology.  I didn't realize -- I thought everybody's were sequentially numbered, and fortunately Board Staff's and VECC's are, but not all of them are.


So it's in respect to capital contributions, and I believe there is a table that was attached to that -- Issue 2.1, I am told, is VECC 13.  And if you at the same time could -- at School's 13, under Issue 2.1, and at the same time if we could bring up VECC Interrogatory No. 7?


MR. VEGH:  Hard copies are easier than these.


MR. GARNER:  I know.  I can only split my screen in two, and I have actually three things on here, so it's very difficult for me to see it too.


If you can look at the two interrogatories and I hope I am correct on the references --


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, actually, can you just give us a moment?


MS. GJEVORI:  For School's IR No. 13, we have provided an updated table with the July 27th submission.


There was an error when the Excel spreadsheet was copied into the Word document pertaining to gross capital expenditures, but no change to the actual customer contributions.


MR. GARNER:  The figure –- and I don't have that in front of me.  I have the old table in front of me.  In that table, you will see figures for the averages 2000 to 2005, 2006 to 2011, and then '12 to '16; were those percentages updated?


That's the quandary I am having with those percentages.


MS. GJEVORI:  Yes, they are updated.  Let's say the 32 percent, the average from 2000 to 2005, it is -- in the updated evidence, it's 27 percent.


And the nine percent has been updated to 10 percent.


The six percent has remained the same.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I am not sure that's going to -- thank you, but I am not sure that going to completely answer the question I have.


I am now looking at the VECC Interrogatory No. 7, where there are averages used of 23 and 42 percent.


And maybe you could help me with the meaning of the 23 and the 42 percent.


MS. GJEVORI:  Is there a question in there that I am supposed to respond, or...


MR. GARNER:  Well if we bring up VECC interrogatory -- can we scroll down that interrogatory a little bit?


You will see at the bottom of that interrogatory, there are averages?  It says:

"Further, even though the amounts of contributions are forecast to decrease, the average percentage of customer contributions compared to gross capital expenditures are higher than average for 2008 to 2011."


And then it has got two figures, 23 and 42 percent.


How does that relate to the figures that we just talked about in the table, is my question.


0MS. GJEVORI:  Yes.  Okay.  So there is a difference between the table provided as a response to School's SEC Question No. 13 and VECC Question No. 7.


The gross capital expenditure in the VECC No. 7 interrogatory, it includes only capital expenditures that attract customer contributions, where in the response to School's question number 13, those are gross capital expenditure for the whole company.


So that is why the averages are higher, because we are comparing them to gross capital expenditures that are lower.  We have selected only the business units that attract customer contributions.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  It will take me a few minutes to digest that, but maybe I will just move on to...


Can you explain to me, then, how the capital contribution forecasts for '13 and '14 were calculated?


MS. GJEVORI:  Capital contributions forecast is derived as part of the whole capital expenditure budgeting.


So as we explained, when -- in the budgeting every year, in the budgeting process, we determine the list of projects that we are going to do in the following year, and then for those projects we determine the amount of customer contribution, so we forecast the amount of customer contributions that we would receive, following historical practices and the information that we have at that point of time.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  Where I am having some trouble with that response is -- and I may have this.  My memory may not be serving me well, but I thought the capital contributions for both years were the same number.  And your response sounds to me, if I can rephrase it back to you, is that, in fact, that number is unique because you look at certain projects and then you develop a number, but then -- if I am right -- to say that the capital contributions for both years are the same number, that somehow doesn't mesh with your response, unless all the capital projects are the same?


MS. GJEVORI:  We have kept the capital contributions

-- they are actually not the same, the total customer contributions.  They have small difference.


And that is shown, the small difference, in the amount of gross capital expenditures, as well.  As you can see, 2013 number, it's forecasted -- the capital expenditure amount is forecasted to be 6.8 million, and that amount goes down in small increments for '14.


MR. GARNER:  Sorry, what's the capital contribution forecast, though, for '13 and '14 in your OM&A?


MS. GJEVORI:  It's 2.2933 for 2013 and 2.960 for 2014.


MR. GARNER:  I see.  And that's the small difference.  Thank you.


Now, staying on capital contribution but moving to your Green Energy plan, and VECC Interrogatory No. 16, there was in that interrogatory a question about a project A and B that were part of the Green Energy plan, and there was a significant contribution as part of that project, significant capital contribution as part of that project.


And I don't have the figures in front of me, but I believe in the Green Energy plan what was identified, something in the six-figure range of 100,000 or something for those two projects.  And I am still -- I am trying to understand whether those projects were going forward and whether there was a significant contribution for those projects somewhere and how that actually -- that piece of evidence relates to the capital-contribution evidence of the utility.


MS. DeJULIO:  Mr. Garner, no one on this panel was directly involved in preparing the Green Energy Act plan.  So perhaps we would have to consider your question and take it back to the office.


MR. GARNER:  Certainly.  I would be happy with an undertaking to review that.  The question I had was really that it's still unclear to me whether the capital -- the projects that are stated in the green energy plan are going forward and whether there is significant capital contributions as laid out in the green energy plan for the project A and project B, and how that therefore fits or does not fit in the application right now.


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, what's the request then, Mr. Garner?  Could we break it out a bit?


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  The first part of the question is whether project A and project B are going to be undertaken and/or completed during the two-year period of this proposal, and the second part of the question is, will there be a capital contribution as indicated in the green energy evidence for those two projects, and the third part of the question would be is, is that capital contribution integrated or can it be found in the evidence of the application, and where?


MS. GJEVORI:  The response to part 3 of that question is given as a response to this IR.  We are saying the forecasted budget did not include the contributions for project A and project B, because at that time it was not known about these two projects.


MR. GARNER:  I guess then the question is, is it now known about these two projects?  Are they going to go forward, and should the contribution -- is the contribution going to be integrated into the application?


MS. GJEVORI:  We will respond to that as part of the undertaking.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking JT1.8, and just for clarification for the record, the reference to project A and B is in the response to VECC Interrogatory No. 16, Issue 2.3.


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.8:  TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE TWO PROJECTS ARE GOING FORWARD, AND WHETHER THE CONTRIBUTION IS GOING TO BE INTEGRATED INTO THE APPLICATION.

MR. GARNER:  I think, Ms. Helt, that those are my questions, at least the ones I can put my hands on before OM&A, with -- what I might suggest is if we could take the break, I will review what I have here, and if there is anything left over, or do you want to keep the panel?  Or I guess we -- are we finished with the panel after me?  Am I the last...


MS. HELT:  No.  Mr. Crocker, Mr. Shepherd, and Board Staff have some questions for this panel, so --


MR. GARNER:  So what I would ask is if we could take the break now and I could just review my notes.


MS. HELT:  Yes, we can keep going.  Mr. Crocker, you had just a few questions; is that correct?


MR. CROCKER:  More than a few, but not many.


MS. HELT:  Do you think you will be more than 15 minutes?  Otherwise perhaps we will go with Board Staff at this point.


MR. CROCKER:  I think -- why don't we take the break and let Mr. Garner rethink his position, and then we can pick it up again.


MR. VEGH:  We are just making use of time.  He can always come back with some additional questions, but we do have ten minutes.  If that's how long Board Staff would take, perhaps it's a good use of that time.


MS. HELT:  All right.  We will proceed then with Board Staff's questions before taking -- Mr. Shepherd, did...


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think the consensus of the intervenors was we wanted to take the break, but apparently Mr. Vegh has an objection.


MR. VEGH:  Well, we want to make use of the time that's been allotted to us for this technical conference.  I understood we were going to go 'til 1:00.  We have ten minutes before 1:00.


MS. HELT:  All right.  We will just proceed with Board Staff's question, and then we will take the break.

Questions by Mr. Battista:


MR. BATTISTA:  This has to do with Issue 2.2, Board Staff IR 14, and that's the -- there were some questions on the working capital study and the update that was provided.  And the interrogatory response says that, based on the updated report, working capital requirement works out to 17.1 percent.


I was just wondering whether -- are you intending that that become your working allowance percentage, working capital allowance percentage?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, Enersource's intention to keep it at the 13.5 that we submitted.


MR. BATTISTA:  Thanks.

Questions by Ms. Azaiez:


MS. AZAIEZ:  Good morning.  This is Leila Azaiez on behalf of Board Staff.  Son on the GA plan, in response to Board Staff IR 19(a) regarding the direct-benefits calculation, you indicate that Enersource's proposed GA plan budget for the test year is relatively small, at 183,000, and 6 percent of that is only 11,000, and for 2014 that amount is 219,000, and 6 percent of that is 13,000.  And Enersource continues saying that it did not believe that this warranted seeking any allocation to the provincial ratepayers.


Could you clarify whether this 6 percent capital expenditures will be paid by the Enersource ratepayer or the provincial ratepayer?


MS. DeJULIO:  It's by the Enersource ratepayer.


MS. AZAIEZ:  Thank you.  That will be all.

Questions by Ms. Kwan:


MS. KWAN:  Hi, I am Donna Kwan with the Board Staff as well.  I have a question on Issue 9.1, Board Staff Interrogatory No. 55.


In appendix 2EA, which was provided in the Issue 1 Board Staff Interrogatory No. 5, the calculation of the amount included in account 1575 includes a PILs adjustment, so I just wanted to know what the purpose of this PILs adjustment is for, as the Board policy with respect to this account doesn't have any such inclusion.


MR. MACUMBER:  Enersource's proposal is that we will fund the amount through a rate rider using 1575, but the way we did our calculation of the rate base was, it included this amount, and then we deducted it through this rate adder and added the PILs and return on top of it.  So the amount we are refunding includes that return and PILs for 2013.


MS. KWAN:  So can you just clarify a little bit why the PILs was added?


MR. MACUMBER:  What we are doing is we have added the whole amount to our fixed assets, because that's where it's sitting.  We calculated a rate base, and then we took off the amount we are refunding, plus all the taxes and return on it, so that it would net -- the refund would match to what we are collecting through rates.  So essentially, it's in our revenue requirement, and we had to take it off.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  And as a second part of that question, Enersource has stated that there is a separate rate rider that's being requested to more accurately track the amount refunded.


However, in Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 1, page 22 of rate application, the requested disposal balance with respect to account 1575 is included in rate rider number 1, which includes the disposition of group 1 and 2 deferral and variance accounts, and then recovery of OCI MIFRS post-employment adjustment.


Can you confirm that Enersource is requesting a separate rate rider with respect to account 1575?


MR. MACUMBER:  It was Enersource's intention to have a separate amount that we were refunding.  We would be tracking it separately, but it would be one rate rider for that year.


If there needs to be two rate riders, it would still end up as one part of the bill in our system.  So we just proposed to put it all together.


MS. KWAN:  So it would still be tracked separately?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  So that's that for the deferral account.


My next question is on Issue 9.2, Board Staff IR No. 56.


So in the response, Enersource is requesting a various account to track actuarial gains and losses between cost of services.  Enersource's intent is that the variance account would be cleared similar to the corridor method.


So the corridor method amortizes amounts in excess of the corridor, where the corridor is the greater of 10 percent of the projected benefits obligation or 10 percent of plan assets.


Please clarify how the proposed account could be cleared so that it's similar to the corridor method, when Enersource is currently asking to recover the entire cumulative actuarial loss in the current rate application.


MR. MACUMBER:  I think what we were suggesting was there is a change in IFRS that the corridor method will disappear January 1st, 2013.


Our intention is that we would track any actuarial gains and losses between this cost of service and the next cost of service in a variance -- or a deferral account, and then clear it through rates in the future.


What we are suggesting in this one is that this variance is not -- would be cleared and we would just simply track any actuarial gains and losses in the future, to be cleared at a future date, either using a corridor method -- four years, one year, depending on the magnitude of the adjustment.


MS. KWAN:  So how -- okay.  So you are still asking to clear the entire amount of the actuarial gain right now, though -- I mean actuarial loss right now?


MR. MACUMBER:  For the January 1st, 2011 amount and the January 1st, 2012 amount, clearing over -- I believe it's a one-year period.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.  So in terms of the reference to similar to -- clearing similar to the corridor method, that may apply in the future, you are saying?


MR. MACUMBER:  Or to this amount, if it's determined that a four-year period is more appropriate than a one-year period.


MS. KWAN:  Okay.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  And that concludes Board Staff's questions.


So I would suggest we take our lunch break now.  When we come back, I understand there may be follow-up questions from Mr. Garner, Mr. Crocker and Mr. Shepherd.  So we will -- Mr. Garner, you are here for the entire afternoon?  And you have one other question, you just indicated?


MR. GARNER:  Yes.  I have one other question, but I will be here, so I'm not --


MS. HELT:  Okay.  So we will go back this afternoon, then.  Mr. Shepherd, your availability this afternoon is -- you don't need to be in the other room?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually they are on lunch right now.  And the late lunch here means I have limited time between them, but I will go in there and see what their schedule is, and I will let you know before 2:00 o'clock.


MS. HELT:  All right.  So we will take a break for one hour, then, and we'll come back at 2:00 p.m.  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:02 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:02 p.m.


MS. HELT:  All right.  We are back, and we may as well get started.  I believe that Mr. Garner has one further follow-up question with respect to this panel.


Just as a preliminary matter before we proceed, I do believe that Enersource has provided a redacted copy of the shareholders' agreement, and I would like to mark that as an exhibit for the record.  This is Exhibit KT1.3.  This morning a confidential version of the document was filed as KTC1.1, so the redacted version will be KT1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  REDACTED COPY OF THE SHAREHOLDERS' AGREEMENT.

MS. HELT:  Are there any other matters that need to be raised before we just continue with this witness panel?  No?  Mr. Garner?


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.  My final question is in relationship to working capital, and the references that I would like you to take a look at are VECC Interrogatory No. 14, which is under Issue 2.2.


And in the main body of the utility's evidence at Exhibit 2, tab 1, Schedule 4, Appendix 1, page 8 there is a table marked Table 5, which has collection lags in it.


MR. VEGH:  Sorry, could you give the reference again?


MR. GARNER:  The reference is Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 4, appendix 1, page 8.


MS. DeJULIO:  I just wanted to mention that Issue 2.2, working capital allowance, actually is falling -- it falls under the panel number 3, but we can try and answer your question.


MR. GARNER:  OH, I am sorry, you are right.  So maybe it is the wrong panel, so I'll let you -- it's...


MR. VEGH:  Could you ask the question again?


MR. GARNER:  Yes, sure, I will ask the question, and maybe now that you have found the reference it may be worth bothering with the question.


MR. MACUMBER:  I can try to answer.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And I do apologize if it is the wrong panel after all that effort to find the actual piece of evidence.


The interrogatory in VECC went to the issue of Enersource changing its collection period by one day for when it mailed out its bills due to a change in Board policy.  And I guess the first question was, as I understand it, the collection lag for -- that is being used now is not going to be 28.12 days.  It was updated to 29.12 days for that change.


And I think if that's not clear to you then you probably -- then I probably should address my question to the --


MR. MACUMBER:  I think in the latest information that we provided, our collection lag actually is a lot more than that, and we are not proposing to update our working capital for that collection lag.


The working capital sheet that you are looking at that went up the one day, that was our forecast after the OEB changed their regulations.  So, yes, we did add the one day to our working capital, collection lag.


MR. GARNER:  So the working capital was adjusted for that.  And would you know the quantum of the change that that would -- the impact that change had on the working capital figure, either the percentage of -- you know, the percentage used or the actual quantum of working capital?


MR. MACUMBER:  We could do a calculation.  One day in a collection lag wouldn't do much to working capital, but we can do a calculation.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Here -- and this may be fortuitous that there is a panel following.  My next questions would be based on whether there in fact is a material difference in that adjustment, so there is no point in me asking a lot of questions if the answer to that question is it's not a material change to the working capital.


So if that were provided to me first, then I can go on with the questions I have with that, and maybe we can just leave that for the next panel to address when they come up.


MR. VEGH:  We will leave it to the next panel.


MR. GARNER:  All right.


MS. HELT:  Is that all, Mr. Garner?


MR. GARNER:  Yes, thank you.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Mr. Crocker.

Questions by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I have some questions on reliability, not very many.  The evidence on reliability is Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 1.  And on page -- pages 4 and 5 of that evidence you have graphs which show that SAIDI and SAIFI are both outside the -- for 2011 and 2012, outside of the three-year ranges.


MR. MORRISON:  Yeah, I believe we've got it up in front of me, so please continue.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And you agree with me -- there it is.  And if you go back a page, on page 3 at line 5 you say:

"The above three liability indices..."


The other one is CAIDI:

"...measures all interruptions caused by planned and unplanned interruptions of one minute or more."


Do you measure -- well, take it back a step.  You have outages that are less than that; correct?


MR. MORRISON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CROCKER:  Do you measure the frequency of those outages?  Do you chart them the way you chart the outages of one minute or more?


MR. MORRISON:  We do have records for all outages one minute and less.  I am not sure we have a graph that shows them within a band, but we do have the information on those brief interruptions.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  And do you know whether they as well are outside the three-year range?


MR. MORRISON:  I don't know whether they are within the three-year range or not.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  It sounds trivial -- I don't mean it to -- we have a number of industrial clients who are significantly bothered by outages even smaller than a minute long, and can you provide me with that information, please?


MR. MORRISON:  Yes, we can.


MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking JT1.9.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.9:  TO PROVIDE THE PERCENTAGE OF INDUSTRIAL CLIENTS WHO ARE SIGNIFICANTLY BOTHERED BY OUTAGES OF LESS THAN A MINUTE.

MR. CROCKER:  On the same issue, on reliability, in Energy Probe's Interrogatory No. 2, under the heading -- under the Issue 1.4, service quality acceptable, they are asking about whether you benchmark -- among other things, they are asking whether you benchmark with other municipalities, and you say on page 3, after you have the chart with the information:

"The OEB publishes its annual yearbook, which provides the reliability statistics and other data for all utilities in the province.  Enersource is unable to comment and compare on its reliability results to other LDCs on an apples-to-apples basis as the..."


And this is my issue.

"...as the data capture and monitoring techniques may differ among each company."


I am not sure what you mean by that.


First of all, what do you mean by "data capture"?


MR. MORRISON:  That's the recording of the outages, the method by which they record the systems, which contains the data.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And "monitoring techniques"?


MR. MORRISON:  That would be one and the same.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And how do you do it versus how whoever "they" are - the other municipalities with whom you can't benchmark, because their data capturing and monitoring techniques are different - how do you do it versus how they do it?


MR. MORRISON:  Well, I can comment on how we do it.  We have the IOM system, and for every outage there is a -- it's recorded in our IOM system.  It's reported --


MR. CROCKER:  What is "IOM"?


MR. MORRISON:  Integrated operating model.


So it basically ties together two or three of our systems, into one.


So it records every outage in there, regardless of the duration.  It does have some automatic features, which tie into what is called our SCADA system, system control and data acquisition.


So that records the very brief interruptions, as well as ones that are very long.  It captures all the details about the outages.  It categorizes them.  Our system operators put in the details about the outages, describing them.


And then we check it for quality control on a monthly basis.  We compare the SCADA system with our IOM records and do audits to ensure the data is correct, and so it's -- what we have recognized is that over the years, we have progressed to better and better systems, which more accurately record it.


So that's what we were trying to get to with our comment that it's difficult to compare to other utilities, because we are not aware exactly how they are recording their data.


MR. CROCKER:  Did you make any effort to determine -- in order to answer this question, did you make any effort to determine the technique, the data capture and monitoring techniques that other LDCs use?


MR. MORRISON:  No, we didn't.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  I think that concludes all of the intervenor questions but for those from the School Energy Coalition.  I understand Mr. Shepherd is currently in the other hearing room.  Perhaps we can just go off-record for a few minutes, while Ms. Girvan checks to see where things stand.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 2:16 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:19 p.m.


MS. HELT:  We are back on air.  Mr. Shepherd is still cross-examining in the other hearing room. We have an option before us either to wait ten or 15 minutes and then allow him to have his opportunity to ask questions of this witness panel.


Alternatively we can start with witness panel number 3.  Mr. Faye has indicated he would like to go first with his questions for panel number 3, and then come back to panel number 2 when Mr. Shepherd is available.


We all know with cross-examinations it's never certain how long someone will be in their time estimates, so even though --


MS. GIRVAN:  There is no cross-examining allowed.


MS. HELT:  Pardon me?


MS. GIRVAN:  There's no cross-examining allowed.


MS. HELT:  In...


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, I thought you meant in here.


MS. HELT:  Next door, not here, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MS. HELT:  That's right.  So if -- unless there are any objections, to make the best use of the time I would suggest we proceed with panel number 3.  Any objections in proceeding in that manner?  No?  All right then.

ENERSOURCE HYDRO MISSISSAUGA INC. - PANEL 3


James A. Macumber


John Bonadie


Martin Sultana


MS. HELT:  I would ask that the panel number 2 witnesses not venture very far in case Mr. Shepherd does come back.


MR. VEGH:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.  So we have stood down panel number 2 pending their return.  Right now we will proceed with panel number 3, so I will ask the members of the panel to introduce themselves and their areas of evidence, starting at my far left.


MR. BONADIE:  Hi, I'm John Bonadie.  I am the director of revenue at Enersource, and I am responsible for operating revenue, cost allocation, and overall rate design.


MR. MACUMBER:  James Macumber, VP of finance in charge of general financial statements, budgeting, the budget rollout, OM&A, IFRS, et cetera.


MR. SULTANA:  Martin Sultana.  With this panel I will be responding to questions regarding PILs, to rate design, and to the deferral accounts.


MS. HELT:  Thank you.


Mr. Faye.

Questions by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Thank you.


Panel, I want to address my first question on Energy Probe IR 24, and this is on Issue 4.1:  Is proposed 2013/'14 OM&A forecast appropriate?  And this IR asked to provide a table of voluntary resignations by unionized staff broken down by position for five years, and you have provided a table in the response to part c), but it doesn't have it broken down by position or trade group, is what I was really getting at.


What I am interested in there is, how many people were eligible to leave -- or how many people left and how many of them were your groups that you find difficult to recruit, like linemen, cable men, experienced operators?  Would you be able to recast that table so that we know which trade groups are in that non-unionized number?


MS. HELT:  Sorry to interrupt.  We do not have -- thank you.  The information was not on the monitors.  Thank you.


MR. MACUMBER:  I think what you are looking for is the voluntary resignation, where the type of employee is it -- has left?


MR. FAYE:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  I will have to take that as an undertaking and get our HR department to fill that in for me.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.


MS. HELT:  That will be undertaking JT1.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.10:  TO DETERMINE THE TYPE OF EMPLOYEE THAT HAS LEFT THE COMPANY

MR. FAYE:  The next question is Energy Probe 25, same issue, 4.1.  I just want to ask you about productivity costs and schedule metrics.  Measure your performance on capital projects and OM&A, and ask for you to provide them for the past five years.


We were referred to CCC IR 10, and when we turn to that one, there is some general response to productivity issues in the IRR, but it doesn't address the thing that we were asking you.  So I wonder if maybe you need a little elaboration on what we were looking for.


And the kinds of metrics I had in mind were, for instance, the cost to install a pole.  Do you monitor that kind of thing year over year to see if your productivity is improving or not improving, you know, the cost to service the average trouble call, to install a meter cable?  Do you have anything like that?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, we don't track that.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  How do you estimate a job then?  If you don't have metrics on how much time and equipment it takes to install a pole, and you got a job that, say, is going to be 25 poles, how do you make an estimate of it?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, we can put together an estimate based on our design techs -- they will do a drawing of what it is that we are building and what we are going to do, and we do an estimate of how many hours it'll take, what type of employee we need, but we don't track it at that level to come up with what is an average cost per pole installed and measure it against the actual job when it's done.  We are looking at total variance in the dollars for each job.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So your design tech must have something he refers to then on how many people it's going to take to crew the job and how much time it's going to take for each pole to put it in.  If he is making an estimate, he would need that, wouldn't he?


MR. MACUMBER:  We will do the design of the project that we are working on, and we'll determine where it is in the city and do we need a bucket truck, do we need a lineman, do we need a journeyman.  We will put together a forecast.  What I'm suggesting is we don't go back to say what is the average cost per pole compared to what we are actually incurring.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  All right.  And maybe at a slightly higher level, do you monitor cost per kilometre of line for OM&A expenses, for instance?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, we manage our capital and our OM&A on a yearly budget, or during this cost of service we will do our projects and monitor against our capital spend or our OM&A spend, not on a per-kilometre line basis.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  While we are referring to CCC 10, I had one question sort of unrelated to what I just asked you, but it's on the second page of CCC 10 under Issue 4.1.  And in there you say that you have jointly implemented CC&B system with Toronto Hydro that allowed Enersource to align key processes within Toronto Hydro and realize economic synergies, and I am just wondering, why is it -- why was it desirable to align processes with Toronto Hydro?


MR. MACUMBER:  I think it's more along the line of we are both regulated by Ontario Energy Board and have similar rules, so it made sense to try to align with a utility that would be billing similar type of electricity.


So we aligned with their processes so that we didn't have to spend more money on customizing the system.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So you use a common system and you just making sure that you don't have to build it in-house to suit your own particular way of doing things?


MR. MACUMBER:  Correct.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I understand.  Thanks.


Moving on to our Energy Probe 27, I just want to talk to you about -- or ask about the incentive plan.  And you provided that, thanks.


And there was a comment or a statement on the second page of the incentive pay plan, right at the top, and it says:

"Apprentices are not eligible to receive the awards until sufficient funds are on account to address training repayment obligations in the event of termination of employment."


I wonder if you could just explain how do sufficient funds or how do any funds get attributed in this way.  Do you have some sort of a sinking fund for apprentice costs or...?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  Essentially what it is the apprentices are entitled to the incentive plan, but due to our nature, that we are trying to train them over a four-year period, any kind of funds from the incentive plan are put in a separate bank account with interest.  If they achieve their status as full-time employee before leaving or making it through, then we will pay them the incentive payments.


So essentially it's ensuring that they stay around until they have earned their pay.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So say their apprenticeship is four years; you would keep their funds in sort of trust for four years?  Or does there come a point where there are enough funds in there to cover their training, and you start to give them some incentive pay even before they are journeymen?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  My understanding is that incentives are held back until they have stayed long enough to receive the funds.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Fine.  Thanks.


On that same incentive plan, page 3, under the heading of "How was the incentive plan created?" it talks about the plan intended to be self-funding and that the costs of it would be derived from savings achieved over annual budgets, as well as revenue growth derived from deregulated businesses.


So I have two questions there, and one is:  How do you measure the savings achieved over your annual budgets?


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say it's the financial piece of the incentive plan that is self-funding.  Therefore, we have to overachieve our budget in order to pay the financial piece of the plan.  The reliability measures, that is built into the plan.  It's the self-funding part is the financial piece.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if your budget, for instance, was a hypothetical -- a million bucks, and all the work that year came in under, at 900,000, then that would be 100,000 available for the incentive plan theoretically; is that a simplified version of things?


MR. MACUMBER:  A simplified version, but it would be split between the shareholders and the employees.


0MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Good.


So it's -- in a sense, it's related to productivity would you say?  If you actually accomplish all the work that was supposedly going to be done in the budget, but you do it cheaper, then there is some productivity measure there, I guess?


MR. MACUMBER:  I guess you might come in cheaper, but then there is also the non-financial pieces, like reliability, safety.  Those are just as important as the financial.


MR. FAYE:  Yes.  I was only sort of referring the financial part.


It occurs to me it's a golden opportunity for gaming your budget system, if the employees know that all they have to do is beat the budget.  Wouldn't there be an incentive there to put in an inflated budget, an easy one to beat?  Have you experienced any of that?  Or do you have safeguards to prevent that?


MR. MACUMBER:  Not only does the CFO, COO and CEO review all the budgets that are submitted, but our audit committee and board of directors reviews the same budget and puts challenges on management and reviews it yearly, as well.


So there is no gaming, and it would be challenged all the way through the organization.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.


The next question relates to Energy Probe 28.  This one asked for a report from the Williamson Group entitled:  "Enersource Corporation August 1st, 2011 renewal report," and what came back in the response was two or three pages.


I am wondering whether the rest of it just didn't get photocopied on the hard copy, or whether it just wasn't supplied.  Or if not, can you supply the rest of the report?


MR. MACUMBER:  Sorry, I am not sure if the report actually was any longer than this.  It looks like it's page 7... page 16...


What I will do is I will talk to our HR department, and I will take that as an undertaking that we will provide the whole report.


MS. HELT:  All right.  That will be Undertaking JT1.11, to provide the entire Williamson report.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.11:  TO PROVIDE ENTIRE WILLIAMSON GROUP REPORT.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks for that.


The next one was Energy Probe 29, and this one asked about, in the face of increasing costs for your OMERS pension plan, whether the company had looked at the possibility of introducing a different plan for new employees and keeping the old plan for established employees.


And the response didn't seem to me to say that you had studied it, but that you thought it might be an obstacle -- to put you at a competitive disadvantage, I took that to mean -- if everyone else stayed with the defined benefit plan.


I wondered:  Have you studied that option or is that just sort of an off-the-cuff response?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, we would not have studied it.  We believe that, I think, all the utilities are OMERS participants, and that moving out of it would just further erode our ability to attract high-quality talent.  They would just simply go work for somebody else with a better benefit plan.


MR. FAYE:  And you know, I think there is some merit to that, particularly concerning hiring fully qualified trade staff, but I wondered if you would want to rethink it in terms of apprentices, which in general are not highly qualified.  They are out of high school or community college, and probably looking for any opportunity they can get.  I wonder if you would have a shrinking ability to attract apprentices if you had a different benefit plan.


MR. MACUMBER:  I actually can't comment on that, and I don't believe it's the company's intention to switch out of OMERS, so...


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The next one is Energy Probe 34, and this concerned the leasing of CN lands, and you did provide a report on the cost-benefit analysis between paying the increased lease and leaving the lines where they were, as opposed to relocating the lines.


And in that report, there was a preferred option that for, three of the lines, it made economic sense to get them off the CN right away, and for the fourth line, the Petro lands line, it was going to be so expensive to move off that it was an idea that maybe you could buy the land.  And I couldn't find in the evidence whether that came through for you or not.  Did you manage to buy that land, or does that line have to be relocated?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, we did not buy the land, and we continue to pay the lease agreement right now.  We haven't been able to relocate it and haven't been able to reach a lower amount with CN as of yet.


MR. FAYE:  So I think it suggested in here that you could get it for 400,000, maybe.


MR. MACUMBER:  That would be our assumption back in --


MR. FAYE:  But so far are negotiations still ongoing?


MR. MACUMBER:  Nothing is -- currently right now we are just paying the annual lease amount.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Assuming that you can't buy the land, when do you think you'd have to get the -- when would be appropriate to get the line off that land?


MR. MACUMBER:  Again, it would cause further analysis to be done.  We want the most effective way to maintain the lines at the least cost, so we haven't done that analysis to see when is the appropriate time that we need to move it.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  It's not going to be in the test year or the ICR year in any event; is that right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Not currently, no.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Fine.


And the last question I'd like to toss in there is to do with the Schools IR 44.  I only put it in in case Mr. Shepherd does not ask for this.


You provided a table there that show the number of actual retirements between 2004 and 2011.  This is on page 2 of the IR response.  And I believe you were asked for a comparable figure of those who became eligible to retire in each of the years and also the number of employees who became eligible in a previous year but hung on and then retired in the designated year on that table.


And I wonder if you can provide those two extra columns on that chart?


MR. MACUMBER:  I have been told that our HR department, when they put this together, we never tracked the people that were becoming eligible and when they retired, and to do so might be going back trying to make assumptions that we wouldn't have the appropriate information.  So that's why we couldn't put the dates in.  We would have to make assumptions about when people could retire.  So we weren't tracking that.


MR. FAYE:  So if I understand you right, take 2011, 12 actually retired, but you don't have a record of those who were -- of the 12, those who became eligible in 2011 to retire?  That's not available?


MR. MACUMBER:  That's my understanding, yes.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  I think Mr. Shepherd will follow up on this, so I am going to leave it to him.  It's his IR.  And those are my questions.  Thanks.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.


I think now would be a good time to complete the questions for panel 2.  Mr. Shepherd has returned, so we will just go off air for a minute or two while the witness panel 3 stands down and witness panel 2 takes the stand again.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 2:44 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:45 p.m.

MS. HELT:  All right.   I think everybody is in position.  Mr. Shepherd?

Questions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


Let me start by following up on a question that was asked by Ms. Kwan of Board Staff, and I didn't actually catch the reference number to the interrogatory response, but you will remember it as soon as I ask it.


She was asking about the corridor method, and you are proposing to clear January 1st, 2011 and 2012 numbers in one year, but in the future to use a deferral account for a type of corridor method by regulation; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  What we are proposing is to request a deferral account for future actuarial gains and losses collected between costs of service, and then to determine at the appropriate time the period to clear the variances over.


So whether or not it's over a period of time or one year would depend on the materiality of the amount.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The corridor method basically allows you to -- within a range, to recover over 10 years or to charge the cost over 10 years for a loss or a gain; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, the corridor method goes away January 1st, 2013.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand, but right now it's a 10-year -–


MR. MACUMBER:  We adopted IFRS IS19R early, so we do recognize the actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income immediately.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The corridor method -- which is not in IFRS; right?  Is a 10-year amortization of amounts outside the corridor; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, it depends on how it is allocated.  The original one that we had when we followed the corridor method was the service life, which was eight years, not 10.


So depending on the value of the plan and how long it's amortized over, past service costs would change, as well.  And that's what some of the adoption numbers were that we immediately recognized, January 1st, 2011.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If the Board were able to construct a deferral account that would allow you to take your current balances and future adjustments to actuarial gains and losses and recover it exactly as the old corridor method used to do, would that be okay with you?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Then the second thing I want to ask you about is -- I have to find it.  You talked about -- in response to Mr. Faye, and you were talking about Energy Probe 1(a) under Issue 1.1.  You talked about the concept of the lowest long-term ownership cost; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And basically, you present-value -- tell me whether this is right -- you present-value the long-term ownership of the existing asset versus the replacement asset, and if it's cheaper to replace it in the long term, that's what you do?


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say we look at it slightly differently.  We are looking at it, at the repair cost of it, how many repairs are we having.


Sometimes we will replace something even though we are there doing our rebuild.  We will replace other equipment, so you'll have some de-recognition expense.


What we are trying to do is match the reliability and service quality that we're providing to our customers at the right possible mixture between OM&A and capital.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I guess, then -- you mentioned the term "lowest long-term ownership cost" several times.


Maybe you could explain how that works.


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, I would look at it -- if you put in a dollar's worth of capital, what you are trying to do is make sure that before, when you are depreciating it, it breaches the expectancy that you are not spending a dollar in OM&A over that life.


So what we are trying to do is spend OM&A effectively, and if it comes to a point that we are going to be spending more OM&A than capital, then we would rebuild it.


I think you are trying to generalize on a 45-year asset of when we determine it, to replace or maintain it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Each time you make a decision to replace, other than when you have to replace something because you are replacing the thing next to it or the thing that it's sitting on, that each time you make that decision, what you are trying to do is reduce your overall cost of ownership in the long term; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so am I right that your spending in -- capital spending in 2014 will include some spending that will reduce your overall long-term costs with respect to those types of assets?


MR. MACUMBER:  For a period of time.


The plan is to spend in 2014 an amount of capital that will replace certain OM&A expenditures that we would be incurring, but that will be replaced with other OM&A that we need to continue to maintain our assets.


It's not one asset at one time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So is that like a portfolio approach? You say:  We want to reduce the overall cost of our portfolio?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  I think what we are trying to say is that by spending money on capital, that the plan is to lower the amount of OM&A that you would be incurring.


So by replacing an asset, the idea is that you won't have continuing OM&A increases.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Do you actually do a comparison for major projects?  If you are -- if somebody in your operations group comes to you and says:  We want to replace this - I don't know, whatever, this box of something, because I am not an engineer - do you ask them to show you that replacing it is going to be a better choice than maintaining it?


MR. MORRISON:  We don't, for a specific capital project, try and make the paybacks solely on reducing the OM&A.


There's other benefits to our system, sustaining the reliability and improving our system, improving capacity and meeting customer needs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But that calculation, that sort of net present value calculation, you do that on big projects.  It's just not the only consideration?


MR. MORRISON:  I don't believe we specifically measure the amount of OM&A we are replacing per project.  I don't believe we do that.


0MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand how you test, then.  What is the test you use for whether you do a big replacement?


If you are not doing the math, I don't understand.  I am obviously just missing something.


MR. MORRISON:  The payback or the main benefit for replacing a piece of our asset that's on our system that has reached end of life, would be the reliability and would be the system performance rather than the OM&A cost.


The OM&A cost would be a piece of it, but it's not the majority driver, not the largest driver in the replacement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't measure it, as part of it?


MR. MORRISON:  No, we don't.  We don't measure it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you go to -- by the way, you said earlier today in a response to a question from Ms. Girvan, you said that your board of directors doesn't approve your rate filing.


Did I understand that correctly?


MR. MACUMBER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Who approves it?


MR. MACUMBER:  It's our CEO that approves the submission of it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the board of directors doesn't even know about it?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, we have reviewed our strategy with them, we have reviewed our filing with them, but the CEO approves the application being submitted.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let me back up, then, because I didn't ask the question right.


So you tell the board what you are going to do -- just tell me whether this is right -- you tell your board of directors what you are going to do in principle, and you give them some background so they understand the approach you are taking, and then they approve it in principle and you go back and do it, but then it doesn't come back to them.  Is that fair?


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say we gave them our budget in 2011 for '12, which was approved.  We gave them the information that we were going for cost of service and how we were proceeding with it.  We informed them in June what we filed for.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they didn't even know that you had a two-year capital plan?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, we had informed them of that.


MS. DeJULIO:  That request by CCC -- I am sorry, I can't recall the IR response, that we had that slide presentation that we made in November of 2011 that did tell the board of directors our intention to go for the 2013 and 2014 application.  So they did know about that in advance.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But in terms of the amount of the rate increase or anything like that, they wouldn't have known that until after the fact.


MR. MACUMBER:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.


Can you go to SEC Interrogatory No. 3, which is under Exhibit I general?  And this is a presentation you gave to investors -- no, this is -- sorry, this is a presentation you gave to Mississauga City Council.  And you also have given us a redacted version of the presentation you gave to investors; right?  And that would be -- and I am looking at the redacted version.  It's entitled "investor presentation, April 20th, 2011".  Do you have that?


MS. HELT:  And that was marked earlier as KT1.2.


MR. MACUMBER:  I have a copy of it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And these questions may not be for you, and if they are not just tell me.


MR. MACUMBER:  I can try to answer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at page 22 that says that you had a $10 million increase in revenues from 2008 to 2009, and then a $4.1 million increase from 2009 to 2010.


Is there something that happened in 2008 to 2009 that made such a big increase, or was that just normal growth in your revenues?


MR. MACUMBER:  I didn't put these numbers together, or I can't remember putting them together, but I believe it's CDM, significant growth in our OPA funding for CDM projects.


MR. SHEPHERD:  $10 million?


MR. MACUMBER:  We've been -- even our budget for this year is about 20 million on CDM activities from OPA-funded programs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Okay.  Thank you.


And then if you can turn up Board Staff Interrogatory No. 9, which is in Issue 1.1.  Do you have that?


MR. MACUMBER:  Interrogatory No. 9?  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I understanding correctly that what you are asking the Board to do is give you two rate orders, a rate order first for 2013 and then another one for 2014 arising out of this proceeding?  I know it's a mechanical question, but I am just trying to understand what you are going for here.


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So at the end of this proceeding, your rates for 2013 and for 2014 would be fixed, and you would not be asking for any changes subsequently; is that right?


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say other than maybe to clear variance accounts, power variance accounts, cost of power.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Under the EDVAR rules at certain times you come back.


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  I understand.  Okay.


Then I am looking now at CCC Interrogatory No. 1, under Issue 1.1.  And I think you have talked about this briefly, and I just want to make sure I understand.  This asks for materials provided to -- not just to the board of directors, but also to management, regarding the decision to file the two-year application for rates.


And I see what you provided to the board of directors there, which we have talked about, but I don't see anything that you provided to management.  What did you provide to management?


MS. DeJULIO:  We didn't have any presentation at all, Jay, Mr. Shepherd, for management.  It was just discussions in meetings.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They never asked you to write anything down about this?  You never did a memo, you never did a comparison, a head-to-head of various approaches, provide a list of alternatives, nothing of the sort?


MS. DeJULIO:  I can't recall putting anything into a memo or running any scenarios, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- I don't want to put words in your mouth, so I want to make sure I understand precisely.  Management approved your regulatory strategy on the basis of verbal discussions only; is that right?


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.  We have -- roughly every two weeks we have a steering committee.  It's called regulatory affairs steering committee.  And we meet with the CEO, COO, CFO, Mr. Macumber, and myself, and we have thorough discussions.  They are scheduled for every two weeks.  We don't always make the schedule, but it's a very -- it's a very close group, and we communicate quite a bit.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And those meetings, are they minuted?


MS. DeJULIO:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am -- now I am going to CCC Interrogatory No. 2.  And this is sort of the similar question with respect to your 2013 budget.


Now, tell me whether I understand correctly.  This is your 2012 budget, because the 2013 budget has not been approved yet.


MR. MACUMBER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this appears to be a presentation by executive management to the board of directors.  That is, this is what the -- your executives provided to the board; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then I am asking you, so what did you provide to the executives?


MR. MACUMBER:  I would suggest that during the budgeting phase we did the asset management plan.  We did the detailed bottoms-up budget.  We actually created this for management to review and approve to be presented to the board of directors.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, at some point you provided a -- because this question asked for a 2013 budget, and you have actually asked the Ontario Energy Board to approve a 2013 budget; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  It would be pretty hard to have a budget without knowing what I am going to have through rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, a very straightforward question.  You are asking the Ontario Energy Board to approve a 2013 budget.


MR. MACUMBER:  No, I am asking the Ontario Energy Board to approve my 2013 rates.  I will ask my board to approve the budget for 2013 in December.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You have proposed to the Ontario Energy Board a budget, both capital and operating, that is the basis for your rate request; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That capital and operating budget that you have proposed to this Board has been approved by somebody; is that right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Who approved it?


MR. MACUMBER:  The CEO, with the support of the board of directors.  They did not approve what we submitted, but they supported the CEO's submission of this rate app.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I just heard before that the last time you talked to your board of directors was November 2011.


MR. MACUMBER:  No, we actually -- the last time our –- the last meeting was June the 5th.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the board of directors approved it after the fact?


MR. MACUMBER:  No.  I am saying they approved the submission of the rate app.  And the stuff that's included in the rate application, they approved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it had already been submitted at the time that they saw it?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's not the approval I am asking about, I am sorry.  I wasn't clear.


I am asking who approved the filing of the rate application and the budget that was in it, before it was filed?


MR. MACUMBER:  The CEO did.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what did you give him?  What documents did you give him in order for him to approve it?


MR. MACUMBER:  Essentially the whole rate application.  We put together everything and got his approval of the manager's summary and what the ask was for, the revenue requirement.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand.  You said:  Here is 2,000 pages; please approve this?


Because I don't know any CEOs that do that.


MR. MACUMBER:  No, but we had him review the manager's summary of what we were asking for, which he approved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it was then unchanged as it was filed?


MR. MACUMBER:  Other than probably the numbers on the side of the page.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MR. MACUMBER:  It's -- the evidence of how it's filed, sorry.  There's numbers on the side of the page.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So he saw a draft?


MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.  He did see a draft of the manager's summary.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the only thing he saw before he approved it?


MS. DeJULIO:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


Then you were asked -- I am trying not to re-ask questions that have already been asked, which is why I am sort of flipping through things here.


Let's go to School Energy Coalition No. 7, which you have referred to earlier today.  And you have confirmed our numbers that we presented to you in the question.


And you were asked by Board Staff about the increase in the PILs, which seems to be out of line with everything else.


And do we have somewhere in the evidence an explanation as to why the PILs is increasing so much more than the return on equity?


If there is a reference already, then that's great.  Then we will just go look at it.


MR. MACUMBER:  We can answer that on the next panel, the OM&A and PILs panel.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It's really a question about your 2014 proposal, which I thought was keeping your operating costs flat, but...


MR. MACUMBER:  We have changed the PILs amount for the amount of capital investments that we are making.  So there is depreciation PILs and return, relating to those capital investments.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So presumably in 2013, you have some CCA shelter that you are losing in 2014; is that right?


Maybe I should wait until the next panel.


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, return would go up, depreciation would go up, the amount of return would go up, and you would have to pay taxes on it.


So we have filed a whole 2014 PILs model in the evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then next is under Issue 2.1, Board Staff IR No. 12, attachment 2, and I asked you about this earlier, the details on the calculation of the rate impacts; you recall that?


And so I am looking at the calculations on pages 7 and 9, which are the "build your own building" versus "lease office space" comparison.  And I have just a couple of questions on those, which I didn't understand.


The first is:  Why is your return on capital not declining over time?  Your rate base goes down; right?  So why wouldn't your return on capital go down too?


MS. GJEVORI:  I can answer that question.


So the assumptions that we made for the three options are we calculated the return for the first year, which is 2013, and considered the other years being in IRM, so the return wouldn't change.


And that's the same assumption we have made for all options, so there will not be any difference.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have assumed in this that you are on IRM until 2018?


MS. GJEVORI:  For the purpose of comparison.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


Then the second question is:  You see you have an interior fit-out in the new building, 87,500 square feet at $50 a foot, which is $4.4 million; right?


MS. GJEVORI:  Sorry, is that option 2 or option 3?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Option 1, "construct a new building owned by Enersource."


MS. GJEVORI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now I am going to option 3, and it says "interior fit-out of 87,300 square feet at $50 per square foot" but then you show –-


MS. GJEVORI:  That's a typo, I am sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MS. GJEVORI:  Let me clarify that.


There is a typo in there when we say 87,300 at 50 square foot, but it is only 15 per square foot.  So the calculation has taken into account the correct number, which is 15.


And the backup to that can be found two pages -- at page 5 of the same evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 5?


MS. GJEVORI:  Yes.  We noticed the typo, but then we had already done the PDF, so...


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I don't see the...


MS. GJEVORI:  So on page 5 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you are assuming you would get a tenant inducement of $35 a foot; right?


MS. GJEVORI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that right?


MS. GJEVORI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That solves that.


And then you have operating costs in your own facility of $14 a foot.


Do you know where that came from?  Where that number comes from?


MS. GJEVORI:  I am sorry, are you referring to the $14 per square foot for the first option?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. GJEVORI:  All the assumptions are taken from the document that starts on page 1.  So if you can flip to page 3, the very last paragraph before we go to option 2?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MS. GJEVORI:  It says:

"Operating costs forecast based on current market condition is in the 12 to 14 range per square foot."


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. GJEVORI:  So we have taken $14 per square foot for both option 1 and option 2.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this $14 is not your number; this is your consultant's number?


MS. GJEVORI:  That's given by Ernst & Young, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then for leased space, they said it's 13.50?  They didn't give you a range?


MS. GJEVORI:  Exactly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yet you didn't do any independent review of whether those numbers are reasonable.


MS. GJEVORI:  We based these calculations on the information that was given by the third party.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so if I went to your application and I looked at what the operating costs are -- incremental operating costs that you proposed for your head office building, will I see $1.2 million a year?


MR. MACUMBER:  We have included in the 2013 test year of OM&A 1.668, which can be found -- let me just go -- Exhibit 4, tab 1, Schedule 1, page 2 of 10.  The operating costs that we have included there also include a network technician position, a facilities caretaker, and a facilities analyst.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


And then the last question on this is, I see that you've got depreciation, annual depreciation, for the building option of $432,000 a year, and for the no-building option you have $131,000 a year -- sorry, 432,000, yes, and 131,000.


And I take it that the 131 is the depreciation on $4.4 million of tenants' improvements; right?


MS. GJEVORI:  The 131,000, that's the leasehold improvements, the initial capital investment of 1.3 million, useful life, ten years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so then I would have thought that you would have 436,500 in depreciation for that component if you are building it out yourself.  And I am looking at option 1, and I am seeing that the depreciation on the whole thing, building and interior fit-out, is only 432,000, which seems very low.


MS. GJEVORI:  For option 1 the calculation of the depreciation expense is based on a 60 years useful life for the building structure and 20 years useful life for the fit-out construct -- building improvements, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sixty years on the building?


MS. GJEVORI:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And I think that's all I have got.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


Panel 2, I believe those are all the questions for you.  Thank you very much.


Perhaps now would be a good time to just take a short break for ten minutes.  Then we will come back and continue with panel 3.  The intention is to go until 5:00 p.m. today.  I take it no parties object to that?  Good.


Thank you.  If we'll come back at 3:30 then.


--- Recess taken at 3:20 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.

MS. HELT:  All right.  If we can resume, then, for witness panel number 3, Ms. Girvan, I believe you are going to go next?
Questions by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Sure.  Thanks.

Panel, if you can turn to -- I am getting these numbers all mixed up, but it's Board Staff No. 37, please, Issue 4.1.

Could you just explain to me what these numbers are, these FTEs and number of employees and what's the difference?  I don't quite understand this schedule.


MR. MACUMBER:  We have got the headcount or the FTE that we are trying to show for Enersource Hydro Mississauga, and then the FTEs of Enersource Corporation and the combined total.

MS. GIRVAN:  So but it says "number of FTEs" and then "number of employees, FTE including part-time."

MR. MACUMBER:  The reference that they are making is appendix 2K, and the number of employees, FTEs including part-time is 339.  That's for Enersource Hydro.

And then the two I -- what we are trying to show is the EHM or Enersource Hydro Mississauga FTEs with the Corp., Enersource Corporation's headcount.

MS. GIRVAN:  Do you use headcount, number of employees, or FTEs?  I am trying to figure out the difference between those terms.

MR. MACUMBER:  The FTEs were calculated based on FTE, so two part-times would be one full-time.

That's what the Board required the form to be filled out as.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  What does "headcount" mean?

MR. MACUMBER:  I would say those would be our permanent headcount that we include in our budget each year.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And do you have vacancies included in this?

MR. MACUMBER:  We would have vacancies on a yearly basis, which we have forecasted to be about -- that we forecasted a dollar because we are not sure of the time they will be vacant.  We have taken out approximately $450,000 for usual vacancies.

MS. GIRVAN:  How did you arrive at that number?

MR. MACUMBER:  I don't know off the top of my head, but I believe it was something like 10 weeks, 18 vacancies for 10 weeks at an average dollar of around 70,000, something like that.

I don't have the calculation, but we assumed that we would have vacancies for about a 10-week period, on average.

MS. GIRVAN:  And what did you base that assumption on?

MR. MACUMBER:  Historically we have vacancies, and even in 2008 we had a vacancy rate that we took off our rates.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can you provide for me the vacancy rate for each of those years?

MR. MACUMBER:  I can provide what we put in our 2008 rates and what we have put in for the 2013 rates.

MR. GARNER:  Can I just follow up?  Because I had questions on the same area about the FTEs.

And I think I understand what the table was showing, but one thing I didn't understand:  When you are doing the comparison of FTEs including the affiliate and FTEs with just the utility, as I understood it there is only a portion of the FTEs of the affiliate allocated -- they only allocate a portion of their time to the utility.  Now, it's a large portion.  I think we discussed this earlier in the day, maybe --


MR. MACUMBER:  93.4.

MR. GARNER:  93.4?  So what I am wondering about is when you are doing this comparison -- which I understand you trying to show a comparison that says:  These are all the people who kind of work with us -- do these numbers take the 90 -- whatever -- 8.4 and prorate that number and say:  So it's only 300 and whatever?

MR. MACUMBER:  No, they were not prorated.  They are just full numbers.

MR. GARNER:  I understand.  And that figure that you gave me of 98 --


MR. MACUMBER:  93.4.

MR. GARNER:  93.4, that figure has changed since 2008, hasn't it?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. GARNER:  It was 80-something earlier?  Do you recall?

MR. MACUMBER:  We had a different methodology for allocating shared service, yes.

MR. GARNER:  Do you recall what the number, then, would have been back around 2008?

MR. MACUMBER:  I believe it was 85 percent, around there.

MR. GARNER:  So would it be fair to say that -- and I do appreciate what you have tried to do, because you have tried to give some idea of where the people working with it are.  So I am not critical of what you are presenting, but would it be fair to say that the way to do that comparison a little more accurately would be to take the affiliate people and prorate it by their allocation number, and that would give you more of what the overall utility's body or headcount, or whatever term we are using for the one that includes the affiliate?

MR. MACUMBER:  I am actually not sure by allocating heads that way might make sense.  Dollars-wise, you could do that, but headcount, by allocating 85 percent or 93 percent, I don't know if that could give a clear picture that a person would still be there.

It's just amount of how much cost each affiliate would pay.  I am not sure allocating percentage on headcount would give you much of a -- much better picture.

MR. GARNER:  Well, just to follow through with an example, in that table that's in that Interrogatory 37 and looking at 2008, the difference -- there is a difference between the affiliate-inclusive number of 368 and the utility itself, which is 318; right?

And at that time, that difference between those two numbers -- which is what 50; right?  Of those 50 people who are in the affiliate, they're allocating 80-some-odd percent of their time to the utility.  Later on in 2013, those same people, if they are the same people, and if it were 50, they would be allocating 90 percent of their time now to the affiliate.

Would that be correct?

Or 93.44 percent of their time to the affiliate?

MR. MACUMBER:  Again, I don't know if allocating the heads is appropriate.  I guess the cost to have the head there may be appropriate.  The amount of time that somebody spends, how we changed our allocation from more of a measurement basis, which we have stated in the evidence, which is either revenue or headcount, I think is the dollars, not so much the work that people perform.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Ms. Girvan, if I can just clarify with you, you had asked the witness if they could provide the vacancy rates for the years 2008 to 2013, and the table.

And I believe the witness answered that he could provide 2008 and 2013 information?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  Did you want an undertaking with respect to those two dates?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, please.

MS. HELT:  All right, then.  That will be Undertaking JT1.12.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.12:  TO PROVIDE (A) VACANCY RATES FOR 2008 AND 2013 AND (B) ACTUAL NUMBER OF VACANCIES.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can just ask a follow-up on that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the Board-approved numbers for 2008 and 2013, the proposal, forecast, you have an assumed vacancy rate?

MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in the actuals, there is no vacancy rate; there is only real people?

MR. MACUMBER:  The schedules that we provided is FTEs, so what we are trying to show there in the table is the FTEs.  And then the vacancies that we would have if it's a 10-week period, we would have savings in dollars, which we are trying to remove from cost of service, not an actual -- you might not have a head savings, but the dollars would be saved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't an FTE an equivalent over a year so, if you lose them for six months, they are 0.5 FTE?

MR. MACUMBER:  I suppose you could take the dollar figure that we removed, and say that would be an FTE you could say is not there.

But we are trying to generalize on a full year of how many dollars we are talking out of the cost of service, not an FTE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what I am trying to figure out, is:  These FTE numbers, do they reflect the fact that if somebody's not there, you don't count them?  Or do they only reflect the fact that if they are there for most of the year, you count them for all of the year?

MR. MACUMBER:  We would count them as if they are there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there are vacancies included in 2008 through 2012 actuals, but they are included as if they were actually there?

MR. MACUMBER:  Well, we would have calculated the FTEs.  I guess what we are saying is on the dollars themselves in -- for the budgets, we have removed a total dollar amount, not any particular head.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If somebody is not there for a whole year, if their position is empty for a whole year, is not being filled for a whole year, but they are on a leave, say, or something like that, and so for the whole year they are not there, but they're coming back or whatever, are they counted or not for FTE purposes?


MR. MACUMBER:  We would have counted them as a head, because the head, it needs to be there to run the utility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is a headcount --


MR. MACUMBER:  It's an FTE, meaning part-time's added together, but totality, this is how many heads we need to run the utility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But do you have a record of how many people you actually had in each of these years?


MR. MACUMBER:  Like an ending headcount?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, actual FTEs that actually ran the utilities in each of 2008 through 2012.


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, this is what we are trying to portray, is our actual FTEs, not the actual ending headcount.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but that's what I asked you, and you said if somebody is not there you still count them.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  How many of these are vacant during that period?


MR. MACUMBER:  What is our average vacancy rate for the full period?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  I don't know off the top of my head, but I can work with HR to try to provide that for you.


MS. GIRVAN:  Because can I just -- just to sort of follow up, in CCC number -- Issue 4.1, number 12, it talks about the 11 employees that have been added since 2008, and the cost of that is 842,000, so when you refer to your 450,000, can we sort of make an assumption that your vacancy rate is about five?


MR. MACUMBER:  You are taking these numbers and calculating a number in FTEs that would be vacant.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  For a full year.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes, sure.


MS. GIRVAN:  So it might --


MR. MACUMBER:  I am accepting of that calculation.


MS. GIRVAN:  Well, I'm not -- it's not my calculation, but --


MR. MACUMBER:  No.


MS. GIRVAN:  -- I am just, I am making an assumption that the 450,000 that you said you have adjusted for, assumed for, it looks like it's around five employees that are vacant, positions that are vacant during the test year.


MR. MACUMBER:  I would agree with that assumption.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then can the undertaking include the vacancy rate for every year, instead of just 2008?


MR. MACUMBER:  I can't give a vacancy rate for dollars that I removed from the budget.  I can give you actual vacancy rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is good.  That would certainly assist me, if it would assist --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  So then that will be -- it will still be Undertaking JT1.12, but it will be to provide actual vacancy rates for the years 2008 through to and including 2013; is that correct?  Yes?


MS. GIRVAN:  For actual number of vacancies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I think for the Board-approved 2008 and the forecast 2013, what Mr. Macumber is proposing is to include the vacancy rate that he has assumed for the purpose of the 2K, right, that's built into the dollars?


MR. MACUMBER:  I built in dollars that I have removed, saying that I will have vacancy rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then for the 2008 through 2012 actuals, you will include the actual vacancy rates.


MR. MACUMBER:  Not dollars, the actual vacancy of heads.


MR. SHEPHERD:  FTEs, yes, thank you.


MS. DeJULIO:  So would this be an A and a B to this undertaking?


MS. HELT:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So staying with that schedule again, Board Staff No. 37, then explain to me when I go back to this -- the other CCC and you have added 11 employees since 2008, can you just reconcile this with Board Staff 37, that says 318 plus -- and in 2008, and -- actually, 2008 actuals is 310, and 2013 forecast is 339.


MR. MACUMBER:  These are FTEs, not actual permanent headcount.  We are talking about a permanent headcount that we have added.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. MACUMBER:  Our total headcount in 2008 for all the regulated and non-regulated was 390 headcount.  We have added two in the non-regs and 11 in the Corp. and Hydro Company.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So the difference is that this includes part-time.


MR. MACUMBER:  The FTEs, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I think I am beginning to understand.


If you could turn to Issue 4.1, CCC No. 1.  And I was just trying to get an understanding of how you did your budget for 2013 and 2014, and if there is any difference in that.


MR. MACUMBER:  No.


MS. GIRVAN:  No.  Okay.  So what's the process you followed in developing the 2014 budget?


MR. MACUMBER:  We have provided the budget time line here.  Just to give you an idea of how the budget works is, we explain that we are starting the budget.  Every business unit manager or cost centre manager that has capital or operating has to sit with their VP or finance or HR, go through the headcount, what they make for dollars, salaries, what costs do they occur in the business unit, look at their contracts for any changes in increases or decreases in the contracts, and it's essentially a bottoms-up budget for every single business unit and every single line item.  Then we will role it up and review it with the CFO and COO for major assumptions or any initiatives that we're doing to ensure they were included, which then it would be given to the CEO for approval and then on to the Board.


MS. GIRVAN:  Well, I guess what I am really looking at is, you have come in for cost of service for 2013, and you have developed your budget in a certain way, but in addition to that you are coming in for another year, and I am wondering how the interplay was, in terms of developing both 13 and 14?  Did you do it at the same time?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  So each of -- the process you just described to me was developing a budget for 2013 and 2014?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And that would be a different process than you have done in the past; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  Typically we would do one year with a two-year forecast without going completely line-by-line item within the budget.


MS. GIRVAN:  But in developing 2014 you did a line-by-line?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If you could turn now to CCC No. 5, Issue 4.1.  Now, the question here asked why the customer-care costs were $1 million less in 2008 than the Board-approved, and you have said that it was due to lower labour costs and a couple of other things, lower expenses combined with lower bill print.


Can you explain to me what you mean by lower labour costs?


MR. MACUMBER:  In 2008 we thought the CIS system would be operational.  It wasn't operational until 2009.  We had overspent our budget on that item, and there were some significant delays.  So we were capitalizing the labour to ensure that it was installed correctly.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If you could turn to the next interrogatory, and it talks about, engineering and operations costs were a million dollars less than the Board-approved.  And again, you have said the reason for that million dollars in underspending was due to lower labour costs.


MR. MACUMBER:  Again, it's either it's going to capital or operating for our labour costs, so there might have been some self-constructed assets that we spent more on than we had originally anticipated.


MS. GIRVAN:  I am not sure I understand that, because we are talking about O&M costs.


MR. MACUMBER:  We use our own staff to construct some of our assets, so they fill in time sheets.  So either it's going to OM&A or to capital, depending on the type of work they do.  So we allocated more time to capital projects than anticipated.


MS. GIRVAN:  So in these categories your costs weren't less, but it's a difference in how you allocate those labour costs?


MR. MACUMBER:  Correct.  The costs went to capital rather than operating.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And the same question then, Interrogatory No. 7, CCC Issue 4.1, No. 7.


MR. MACUMBER:  The IT staff working on the CIS system.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  So again, lower -- a million dollars in lower labour costs.


MR. MACUMBER:  Correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So these weren't savings, then?  They were just a matter of how you allocate them.


MR. MACUMBER:  We allocate to capital operating if it's going to benefit the future periods to capital, and if it's not, to the current period.


Depending on what we are working on when they fill in their time sheets, some will go to expense and some will go to capital.

Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  I hate to interrupt, Ms. Girvan, but in appendix 2K, which is your Exhibit 4, tab 3, schedule 1, appendix 2K, at the bottom of that chart, which is a standard Board chart, you have "Total compensation charged to OM&A" and "Total compensation capitalized."


And when I look at that chart, you have 100 percent of all your compensation is charged to OM&A in that chart, which seems at odds with what you have just told Ms. Girvan.


MS. GIRVAN:  At the bottom, Mark?  Are you referring to the bottom?


MR. GARNER:  Yes.  At the bottom of that chart, it will say "total compensation charged to OM&A" and then "total compensation capitalized."


MR. MACUMBER:  Total compensation capitalized is more than the 2008 cost of service.


The total compensation to OM&A, it may be more than that, but depending on -- it could be to recoverable projects.  We may have incurred more salary or benefit expense, but depending on if it went to OM&A or recoveries.


MR. GARNER:  But am I reading the chart incorrectly? In taking any given year -- I will take 2008 -- the total compensation charged to OM&A -- or the total compensation is 4.8 million, 4.864798, and the total charged to OM&A is the same figure.


There is none capitalized in that year?


MR. MACUMBER:  I think you are looking at the corporation.


MR. GARNER:  I see.  Is that the difference?  Okay --


MR. MACUMBER:  The hydro, we have 27.9 and 29.7.


MR. GARNER:  Yes, you are right.  No, I am looking at the corporation.  Thank you.


MR. MACUMBER:  You are looking at the corporation.


MS. HELT:  Ms. Girvan, you can continue.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thanks.


Okay.  If you could please turn to CCC Issue 4.1, No. 11, and this is referring to the reliability statistics and the outages, how the outages have increased over several years.


If you look down in the response, in the second paragraph, I'd like to understand what you mean there:

"In the last four years, Enersource has continued with its existing system sustainment programs within the limitations of its budget structure."


Can you explain to me what that means?


MR. MORRISON:  It simply means that we have continued on with our existing maintenance and sustainment programs, but one of the constraints we have with those programs is the budget and the amount of money we can spend on it.


MS. GIRVAN:  So even though you needed to spend money to enhance your reliability, you chose not to?


MR. MACUMBER:  I would say there's other constraints besides just reliability.


One of them is resources, and another one would be financial.  During some of those periods, the cash that was available to us was not as sufficient as for all the things we would have liked to have done.


MS. GIRVAN:  But wouldn't reliability have been a priority within the context of your budget?


MR. MACUMBER:  Maintaining a sufficient amount of cash is a priority, as well.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


If you could turn to Issue 4.1, CCC No. 17, and we had asked for -- I will wait until you get it on the screen.


We had asked for a breakdown of the $200,000 in legal expenses.  I just wondered if you could provide that.


MS. DeJULIO:  This is -- I mean, we could try to divvy it up among those items there for you.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That would be helpful, if you could provide a breakdown of the 200,000.


MS. HELT:  So that will be by way of undertaking, at JT1.13.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.13:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE $200,000 IN LEGAL EXPENSES.

MS. GIRVAN:  This was covered off -- sorry, if you could please turn to CCC Issue 4.1, No. 21, please.


And Mr. Faye covered off some of this, but I just want to clarify.  What have you -- you talk about number of employees that can retire, and I just -- I think it's in here and I think he was referring you to another interrogatory, but what have you assumed for 2013 in terms of the number of retirements?


It talks about eight eligible in the question, but I just wondered, in terms of developing your budget, what did you assume.


MR. MACUMBER:  We have not assumed that there would be any additional overlap between somebody retiring and having a replacement person.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry?


MR. MACUMBER:  We assumed that it would be the status quo, so if somebody retired, we would replace them with an equivalent person.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So it doesn't change your budget at all?


MR. MACUMBER:  We did not change our budget for people that were going to retire.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then if you could just -- I don't know that you necessarily have to turn it up, but maybe I will ask you to do it anyway.  Energy Probe Issue 7.1, which refers to -- it sets out your rates, and it's IR No. 1, Issue 7.1.


And it's about the fixed/variable splits, and if you could turn the page 3 of 3 and -- right there.  The distribution fixed rates.


Just so that I have a better understanding, I see you are going from 2012, 11.87, to 2013 of 13.75; can you explain to me how you got to that fixed-rate level, please?


MR. SULTANA:  So the 13.75 was calculated, we took the Board-approved, the existing rates based on the Board-approved 2012 tear sheet.  We have taken that against the 2014 forecasted billing determinants.


That kicked out a fixed/variable split, which we then used to calculate the 2013 rates based on the new revenue requirement.


In doing so, we have included the transformer ownership allowance, as well, that we have allocated all to the variable portion for all rate classes.


MS. GIRVAN:  So that is the largest differential, then?  The transformer allowance?


MR. SULTANA:  Well, it's also an increase in the revenue requirement, as well.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I realize that, but sort of those two combined?


MR. SULTANA:  In terms of the fixed/variable split, correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  And do you do any tinkering?


MR. SULTANA:  To the fixed/variable split, no.  We have used the current fixed/variable split --


MS. GIRVAN:  So it comes out of the model?


MR. SULTANA:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Okay.  All right.  Thank you, those are my questions.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  Mr. Garner.

Questions by Mr. Garner:


MR. GARNER:  Thank you.


Maybe we should go back to the working-capital question I asked earlier today about the change of one day and what impact that would have on the lead lag study that was used for the working capital.


Was there an answer to what the material impact of that change would be?


MR. BONADIE:  Do you have that reference number again?


MR. GARNER:  It was interrogatory -- VECC Interrogatory No. 14, and then in the body of evidence I would have to look it up.  I will just...  It'll be at -- the reference will be at VECC Interrogatory 14, will have the main body of evidence.  It's Table, I believe 5, in the main body of the evidence.


MR. BONADIE:  So just to recap, the 2007 -- for the 2007 working-capital study we calculated -- for the 2007 working-capital study we calculated 28.12 days.


MR. GARNER:  Right.


MR. BONADIE:  With the change to the Board -- from the Board basically adding one additional day or the difference between when the bill goes out, we added one day to that for the 2010 calculation, which took the collections lag up to 29.12.


MR. GARNER:  Right.


MR. BONADIE:  I also wanted to note that, subsequent to us filing that working-capital study, the Board came out with a change to the DSC effective January 1, 2011, in which it added three days' grace, and that hasn't been factored into the working-capital study that was submitted.


MR. GARNER:  Could you help me with an understanding of what quantum difference that makes to the working-capital calculation, what outcome, what's the outcome of that?


MR. BONADIE:  I don't have the model here with me, but I could take that away for you.


MR. GARNER:  Yeah, I -- right now I am just looking for -- I don't need an exact number.  I don't need you to rerun it, but I am just trying to figure out, do you have any idea yourself roughly what that would change in the outcome?


MR. BONADIE:  No, I don't.


MR. GARNER:  Is it material or not?


MR. BONADIE:  I believe it would be immaterial, but without doing that calculation I cannot say.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Well, then perhaps you would make an undertaking to do the calculation and give us what the one day is going to be, or is that -- how much work is that?


MR. BONADIE:  I don't think that would be a lot of work.  Did you also want us to recalculate it with the three days?  Because that's not been included.


MR. GARNER:  No, I guess the thing I am trying to figure out is whether it should have been calculated with an -- adding an extra day, and I wanted to know how much that extra day would mean to the working capital.


MR. MACUMBER:  I don't think adding one more day to the collection lag would do anything to the working capital.  So the working capital that we submitted at 13.5, one day in the collection lag wouldn't change.


MR. GARNER:  That's what I was wondering.  It wouldn't actually -- there wouldn't be a material enough number to change the outcome of the 13.5?


MR. MACUMBER:  Not one day.


MR. GARNER:  Yeah.  Okay.  In that case I withdraw the request for the undertaking, thank you, based on that.


Now, in VECC Interrogatory No. 36, I believe, we asked you to provide the OM&A per customer for your cohort of utilities that were established by the Board.  And in that interrogatory you declined to answer, or said you didn't have the information.


And I just want to pursue that, because it's been my experience in every cost-of-service application that I have looked at, and I think that's been pretty much all of them in 2012 and '13, that the applicant has provided that information, which is available from the Board's data for 2010, and I was wondering, A, if you would reconsider providing that so that it's on the record, and if you are not going to reconsider that, what I would like to understand is why it is you don't want to provide that information in your application.


MR. VEGH:  Well, the response to the interrogatory as provided is set out in the response is because, simply, Enersource does not have this information.  It does not maintain this information.  Suppose, Mr. Garner, if you did want to get this information on to the record, you are capable of doing that, but it's not something that Enersource has as part of its evidence.


MR. GARNER:  So now if I can ask the panel:  Do you look at the cohort information for your utility on an O&M basis, O&M per FTE and for your utility?  Do you examine that from time to time?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, we do not.


MR. GARNER:  So it's your view -- is it your view that there is no relevance to that for you, for your utility, that that's not of any value to you?


MR. MACUMBER:  I am not sure of how other utilities account for things or capitalize things, their accounting policies, what they get approved by their auditors or in a cost of service, so I am not sure if it's the relevance.  I just, I can't comment on what they do in their accounting.  So we don't use that information.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, interrogatory for Energy Probe No. 24, I believe, there is a table that was attached to that interrogatory?


MS. HELT:  Mr. Garner, could you indicate which issue number that is as well?


MR. GARNER:  I could if I had actually written that down as the reference, but in fact I haven't, so I have only got Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 24 written down here.  So it will be in the O&M section, I believe.


MS. HELT:  Issue 4.1?


MR. GARNER:  It could be.  It's -- there is an attached table to it, an attachment to it.  I can actually pull up the attachment, so maybe that will help.


MS. DeJULIO:  Is that with respect to studies and collective agreements?


MR. GARNER:  That's right.  That's collective agreements.  That's the...


MS. DeJULIO:  That's Issue 4.1.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  Now, that table, which I am just looking for, perhaps someone can put it on the screen.  That table is unfortunately -- that table is unfortunately a little bit hard to read, and I am wondering if you could help me with that table.


And what I am particularly interested in is the comparison here of Enersource with a number of other cohort utilities, and it is showing in the -- one, two, three, fourth row a percentage increase of, I believe it is labour contracts, and between the different utilities.


And I am wondering if you could help me understand this.  I am trying to understand the agreements with those other utilities as they compared to Enersource.  So Enersource has, I believe it says 2008, something, 2010, and it has 2. -- then down 2 percentage increase.  It says 2.53333 or 325.  It's a little difficult to read.


And I am wondering how I can read that and then compare it to the one next to it, let's say Brampton, which is 0811, and it says 333, for instance.  So could you help me at all deciphering that table?


MR. MACUMBER:  I believe this was put together by our VP of HR when we were in the negotiations with the union.  I believe that's the amount of years that the term or the contract was for and their increases per year.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  The reason that -- I see.  Okay.  So if I am -- okay.  Thank you.  I think that's fine.  I am just trying to read this then, so for -- taking Hydro Ottawa, which is the one I can see on the screen, a three-year contract beginning 2007 at 3 percent for 2007, 3 percent for 2008, and 3 percent for 2009 or to the '10, that's the way I'd read that, compared to Enersource's, which is for 2008 to '10, a four-year period, and those are the four rates for that period; right?


MR. MACUMBER:  I believe that's what she was trying to show, yes.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, again, unfortunately I only have the Energy Probe interrogatory number, which is No. 3, and this is about the cost of monthly billing.  I think -- I am just looking for it.  It's Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 3, but I am trying to look for the issue.  Oh, here it is.  I think it's under Issue 4.1.


And here, it's basically -- what the response is:

"Enersource has not prepared to forecast in which it would bill all of its customers monthly for 2013.  However..."


And then it goes on to explain that the rough assumption is $61,000?


MR. MACUMBER:  Per month.


MR. GARNER:  Per month?  Okay.


MR. MACUMBER:  And that's just the delivery.  We didn't factor in IT, postage or anything else.


This is just the delivery itself, not the envelope or anything like that.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Well, that's helpful.  I didn't know it was per month.


But the question did ask what the -- oh, I see.  You are just answering what it would be to bill all of its customers, not all the other costs.


Have you done any study of what it would cost you to bill your customers on a monthly basis?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, we haven't done that analysis.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  And why not -- why not bill your customers monthly and reduce, for instance, your working capital requirement and other costs?  Why wouldn't you do that analysis?


MR. MACUMBER:  We never sat down to determine what it would cost to bill monthly and what impact that would have on working capital or anything like that.


We just assumed that the bills we are sending out bi-monthly, customers appreciate at this time, and we have not thought about a change.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, the next question I have is in relationship to School's Interrogatory No. 36.  And as usual, I have the number but I won't have the issue, but it should be in this Issue 4.  And this is one that -- it has a table that shows IT costs.


So I think I have found it.  It's Issue 4.1.  All right?  You have it?


So what I was interested in in this table is the ISTS services provided to affiliates, and I was wondering if you could comment on why those costs to affiliates have stayed relatively stable over the period 2008 to 2013, while all the other IT costs seem to have gone up considerably?


MR. MACUMBER:  This is just an allocation of the IT manpower costs out to other utility -- or the affiliates, we base it on headcount.  The costs for any asset investments, that we charge a different rate for that.  So the headcount really has not changed in the affiliate, so the charge has not significantly increased.


MR. GARNER:  Well, I wonder if I can just pursue that.


So in that table, it shows that the IT -- OM&A IT-related costs have gone from 5.4 to 9.1 million.  And if I understand the table correctly, the charge to the affiliate has in that time gone from 527,000 to 580,000; is that correct?


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes.


MR. GARNER:  So -– okay.  No, that's fine.  Thank you.  I will leave it at that.


Now, I think I have -- this panel is also doing cost allocation; isn't it?


All right.  And earlier this morning, I passed on to Ms. DeJulio a number of questions in respect to cost allocation, and I am wondering if you have had a chance to take a look at them and whether you would like to answer them.


MR. BONADIE:  Questions that were provided did not include any questions pertaining to cost allocation; they were with respect to operating revenue, and one was related to rate design.


MR. GARNER:  Okay.  I thought question 7 was on cost allocation, and that had to do with secondary voltage and ownership of transformers, but you are telling me that's not the case?


MR. BONADIE:  So that one question, its titled "Rate design, Issue 7.1."  I guess it's a balance between cost allocation and rate design.  We haven't had a chance to review it at this time.


MR. GARNER:  That's fair enough.  If they are going to answer it, I am indifferent to which panel answers them as long as they get answered.  That's fine.


I think those are all my questions.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Mark, isn't this the rate design and cost allocation panel?


MR. GARNER:  You are right, now I look at it.  It is the rate design and cost allocation panel, but I think –- are we going to answer them today, or are we going to --


MR. BONADIE:  Right.  My response was that I haven't had enough time to review the question.


MR. GARNER:  So we are going to answer these tomorrow?


MR. BONADIE:  Yes, either tomorrow, or take them as an undertaking.


MS. HELT:  So when we come back tomorrow - not to say that we are finished today - but we will address these particular questions, and if it's necessary then we will perhaps mark the questions as an exhibit and note that the answers to those particular questions will be given as an undertaking.


MR. VEGH:  That's correct.


MR. GARNER:  So I am clear, though, what I am understanding right now is that of the questions that we provided earlier this morning, this panel is not going to be answering any of the questions.


So tomorrow everything that we provided is going to be addressed.


I don't think there's any of these questions that anybody is going to answer, is, I guess, where I am going.


MR. VEGH:  No.  This panel will answer those questions, but they are just not in a position to do that right now.  They will provide that information tomorrow morning, if possible, and if not, the answers will be provided by way of an undertaking.


MR. BONADIE:  Sorry, for clarity, question 9 pertains to this panel; questions 1 through 8 pertain to panel 4 on operating revenue.


MR. GARNER:  Right.  And I think Mr. Vegh and I are saying the same thing, is all the questions are getting answered tomorrow, so...


MR. BONADIE:  Correct.


MR. GARNER:  By either panel.  Thank you.  That's all I have.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Garner.


Are those all of your questions?


MR. GARNER:  Yes.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Aiken I believe you indicated you had no questions?

Questions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  I didn't, but now I do, and it is just one question on cost allocation and rate design in general.


What is your proposal to set rates for 2014, assuming your revenue requirement as requested is approved by the Board?


Because I don't think you filed a cost allocation and rate design study for 2014, so how are the 2014 rates going to be set based on 2013 rates?


MR. BONADIE:  So the 2014 rates are set currently on the same premise that the 2013 rates are set.  We had made no adjustments to the cost allocation model for 2014.


MR. AIKEN:  So there will be no changes to revenue-to-cost ratios.  In the simplest form, if the revenue requirement under your proposal went up by 3 percent in 2014, would you be increasing all rates and all components of all rates by 3 percent?


MR. BONADIE:  Based on the 2013 cost allocation study, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that's news to me.  Maybe I can just follow up.


So the increase from 2013 to 2014 that you are proposing is only for the capital expenditures; right?


MR. BONADIE:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not going to then allocate that amount.  You are not going to rerun the cost-allocation study to allocate that, to increase those amounts.  You are going to assume that it's -- that whatever the percentages applies to all costs.


MR. BONADIE:  The same fixed variable split as 2013.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, but do you believe that those capital costs that you are adding in 2014, that they allocate pro rata across all classes?


MR. BONADIE:  I am making the assumption that they do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I am asking if you believe that they do.  I mean, your cost-allocation study will show you, presumably.  Do you know the answer to that?


MR. BONADIE:  If we were to redo the 2014 cost allocation it may be different, but at this point we are assuming that the same 2013 cost-allocation model be used to allocate the 2014 rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it possible for you to identify the split of costs, the categories of costs that you are proposing to add in 2014, and see how they are allocated in 2013 to get your percentages, to see whether there is a reasonable match?


MR. BONADIE:  We would have to take that as an undertaking to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Could you?


MR. BONADIE:  That might be something of a significant factor to do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If it involves rerunning the cost-allocation study?


MR. BONADIE:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  That's your call, but if it's a just a matter of going through the list and saying, Okay.  These split up about this way and that looks similar to or not similar to our overall distribution revenue split, that would be useful information.


MR. VEGH:  So why don't we -- I think we know what you want, Mr. Shepherd.  We will take that under advisement and perhaps advise you in the morning of an approach that we could possibly take to this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In the meantime could we give it an undertaking number so that whatever we get it will be flagged?


MS. HELT:  Certainly.  That can be noted as Undertaking JT1.14, and it is a matter to be taken under advisement by Enersource.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.14:  TO IDENTIFY THE SPLIT OF COSTS, THE CATEGORIES OF COSTS PROPOSED TO BE ADDED IN 2014, AND SEE HOW THEY ARE ALLOCATED IN 2013 TO GET PERCENTAGES


MS. HELT:  Mr. Crocker.

Questions by Mr. Crocker:


MR. CROCKER:  Thanks.  I was going to ask you questions about headcounts and FTEs, but Ms. Girvan and her interrupters did it more thoroughly than I would have, and so I am not going to go back and do that again.


But I do have some questions about outsourcing and a preliminary question to that.  So if you could turn up Issue 4.1, Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 6.  And I am looking at the answer on page 3 of 5, and I first want to look at paragraph (e).


You say, talking about -- this is talking about reliability, and you say Enersource -- starting in the middle of the paragraph:

"Enersource typically has around 180 cable faults per year.  Enersource uses a contractor to help dig and backfill the holes, allowing underground cable faults to be repaired by Enersource, that Enersource projects cable faults to return to normal levels in 2012, which leads to a reduction of contractor costs compared to 2011."


A couple of questions.  One, what leads you to the conclusion that cable faults will return to normal levels in 2012?


MR. MORRISON:  Just based on our history prior to 2011, just trending the cable faults and looking at typical numbers, 2011 stands out as significantly higher.


MR. CROCKER:  And the "why" for that is what, do you think?  That is, why is 2011 -- is it the weather-related issue that you talked about there, or are there other issues?


MR. MORRISON:  There could be other factors, but the one we can point to immediately would be the weather.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But are you suggesting that it was a blip that you can't account for, and that you expect it to go back to typical because it was a blip, or...  I just don't understand why you make a pretty strong statement.


MR. MORRISON:  With our aging assets, we expect that it may continue to rise, but we feel from 2010 to 2011 it rose significantly, and we believe, although it may be more than the typical 180, that we believe it will be less than 210.


MR. CROCKER:  Do you have any information as to where you are at this point in 2012 to lead you to any conclusions?


MR. MORRISON:  I don't have that information with me.


MR. CROCKER:  I don't think it's relevant enough to require an undertaking.


Does it have anything to do with -- does the return to normal result in a reduction in contractor costs, or are there other factors that result in reduction of contractor costs?  In other words, are contractors costing you less?


MR. MORRISON:  They would be assisting with less cable repairs --


MR. CROCKER:  Right.


MR. MORRISON:  -- so by volume the contractor costs would be lower.


MR. CROCKER:  Not unit costs necessarily are going down.


MR. MORRISON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  In the paragraph above you talk about forestry crews.  I assume these are tree-trimming crews?


MR. MORRISON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. CROCKER:  Yeah, I just want to understand what you've said here:

"Enersource has two forestry crews."


You say:

"One contract forestry crew was utilized."


So one of the two crews is a contract crew, or is there a third?


MR. MORRISON:  The contract crew is a third crew.  We have two Enersource employee crews and one contract crew.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And is the contract crew on a permanent contract?


MR. MORRISON:  We go out for tender, and it's not a permanent contract.  The contract typically runs from three to five years, but it can be reduced or increased at any time as the work would dictate.


MR. CROCKER:  But it's a full-time contract, that you don't call on them periodically.  They are there for that period, and they are under contract to you full-time for that period.


MR. MORRISON:  That third crew typically works the entire year.  There may be a few exceptions, a week here or there they ask to leave for other jobs, and there are occasions where we will ask them to bring in a second crew if the workload is particularly heavy.


MR. CROCKER:  And that second contract crew, what would those -- those people wouldn't be working for you directly or indirectly under contract or any other way when they weren't called in then?


MR. MORRISON:  That's correct.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Have you done any evaluation as to whether it would be worthwhile to contract the -- outsource the -- all of your tree-trimming, all of your forestry work?


MR. MORRISON:  We haven't done a formal evaluation of that, but the Enersource crews bring certain expertise on the system, and we do get a little bit of different value from a contractor crew and an Enersource crew.


MR. CROCKER:  I assume you are saying that the value of the -- your staff people is higher than your contract people?


MR. CROCKER:  And what makes that the case?


MR. MORRISON:  Typically when we need to deal directly with the public, we prefer to have the Enersource staff deal directly on those types of calls, for better customer relations.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Is the contract crew less expensive than the full-time crew?


MR. MORRISON:  I believe it is, yes.


MR. CROCKER:  And you feel the better customer service is worth the difference in price?


MR. MORRISON:  Better customer service.  It also keeps the expertise in-house for overall planning of our tree trimming program.


MR. CROCKER:  These are full-time contract people; they are virtually in-house, aren't they?


MR. MORRISON:  The contractor that we currently have actually rotates his crews.  So we may have that third crew; it can change every few months.


Whereas the crews we have, the two crews, they have been working for approximately 20 years on our system, and they have detailed knowledge of our system and where the best places are to go or where we have trouble spots with tree contacts on our system.


MR. CROCKER:  In Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 4, you deal with outsourcing, page 7.


MR. VEGH:  At what page?


MR. CROCKER:  Page 7.  If we go down to the bottom of the page, I just want to make -- I am not sure we have the same -- Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 4?  Okay.


I want to just go through this with you, to have you quantify whether this is a complete list of your outsourcing, and whether there are other possibilities and whether those other possibilities would reduce costs.


You say at line 25, Enersource outsources cable locates, cable locate work?


MR. MORRISON:  That's correct.  We do.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay and on the next page you say, line 9, you outsource most underground civil work?


MR. MORRISON:  That's correct.  We do.


MR. CROCKER:  And then you say at line 11, the outsource -- outsourced maintenance projects?  There's three?


MR. MORRISON:  Sorry, which line are we on?


MR. CROCKER:  Eleven, I believe.


The outsourced maintenance project include dry ice graffiti removal, secondary cable repairs that –-


MS. HELT:  What page?


MR. CROCKER:  I am sorry, page 17.  Okay.


So line 9, first of all, indicates you outsource most of your underground civil work; correct?


MR. MORRISON:  That's correct.


MR. CROCKER:  And then following that, on line 11, you say -- this may be the same work.  You tell me.


The outsourced maintenance projects, is that a third outsourcing?


MR. MORRISON:  Maintenance process like dry ice cleaning, graffiti removal, secondary cable repairs and hydrovac systems.


MR. CROCKER:  Sorry, that's a third, then, group of outsourcing work?


MR. MORRISON:  Yes.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And then if you looked at Energy Probe Interrogatory -- Exhibit 1, Issue 4.1, their IR No. 32, you talk about, in paragraph (a), the reduction in costs in meter reads through outsourcing, I believe; correct?


MR. MACUMBER:  The one you just pulled up there, this is for the call centre and the collection work.


What he is talking about is outsourced maintenance, that they are two different --


MR. CROCKER:  No, I understand that.  I just want a list, and I would like you to -- I would like to talk to you about whether you have considered outsourcing other things, because it seems to be -- it seems to provide you with savings.  Okay?


MR. MACUMBER:  Are you looking for a list of the things we outsource?  Because we believe that we have got the amount of in-house staff, and that we outsource what we can for the best way to run our utility.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  That's fine.  I think the list in the material that you filed is complete, including what you have described in the interrogatory.


And I am only asking you whether that is the complete list of outsourced work that you do, and secondly, whether you propose to do more for the test year and the ICR year?


MR. MACUMBER:  There is no other outsourced work other than what we have included.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And do you propose to outsource anything else?


MR. MACUMBER:  No, not at this time.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Could you look, please, at -- I am trying to decide where this graph I have is coming from.  Exhibit 1, Issue 1 -- I guess this is CCC Interrogatory No. 1 under Issue 1.1, and page 3, it's that OEB model.  Now, I just wanted to understand this, see if I can understand this graph.


2008 to 2012 were IRM year; is that correct?


MR. MACUMBER:  2009 through '12 were IRM.  2008 was a cost of service.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And I am a really simple guy and I see IRM as to -- capping the top end to encourage you to work on the bottom end of things.


It looks like to me in 2013 and your proposal for 2013/2014 you want to catch up some for the capping on the top end during 2009 to 2012.  Am I being too simplistic?


MR. MACUMBER:  Well, I think the chart is showing what the rate increase was and what our cost increases are, showing that the rate increase was nowhere needed -- nowhere near our cost increases.


MR. CROCKER:  Right.  Would you be able to provide me with what the rate of return was for the shareholder from 2009 to 2012 and what the -- and graph that, as well as the regulated rate?


MR. MACUMBER:  Like, the actual rate on the actual equity or the deemed rate on the deemed equity?


MR. CROCKER:  Both, please.


MR. MACUMBER:  Yes, we can provide that.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking JT1.15. 

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.15:  TO PROVIDE THE RATE OF RETURN FOR THE SHAREHOLDER FROM 2009 TO 2012, AS WELL AS THE REGULATED RATE, BOTH THE ACTUAL RATE ON THE ACTUAL EQUITY AND THE DEEMED RATE ON THE DEEMED EQUITY.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I would like to ask you some questions, please, about cost allocation.  If you could please turn up under Issue 6.1 Board Staff Interrogatory 45.  And the revenue-to-cost ratios on the graph show that large users in 2008 were at 111 and that the proposal in 2013 is to take that to 109, and I think that's been modified, although I am not sure, to 110.  Is that correct?


MR. BONADIE:  Correct.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And at the other end of things, the residential group is going from 91.50 to 90, and I wonder whether you can rationalize that for me?


MR. BONADIE:  Are you talking about the decline?


MR. CROCKER:  Yeah, both.  Why are you not attempting to move the large user class closer to unity, and why - I suppose it's a separate question - why is residential going from 91 and a half to 90, farther away from unity?


MR. BONADIE:  Okay.  As discussed in Board Staff, so Issue 6.1 to question IR 44 to Board Staff, when we took on the cost-allocation model the initial calculation for revenue-to-cost ratio for residential was at 85 percent -- sorry, the first model that we had submitted, or the April 27th cost-allocation filing, I believe residential was at 87.


When we reran that for the smart meter funding adder and updated the evidence in May 17th, the revenue-to-cost ratio for residential was 85.  All we did was take a look at the two classes that were outside of the Board's range, that being large users and USL, and we moved the residential up from 85 to 90 percent and took it from there.  We didn't do any other analysis, as explained in the answer to Board Staff 44.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But -- and you are suggesting it's -- I hate to use the word "fair", so I won't use the word "fair", but that it's equitable to have the large user class at 109 and the residential class at 90?


MR. BONADIE:  Again, I am not deciding upon equitable.  This was -- the decision for 2013 takes a number of factors:  rate stability, bill impacts, and we also looked back at the previous settlement in 2008, where the decided revenue-to-cost allocations were within this 91.5 and 111 range.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So you're satisfied then -- if we go back to IR 44, your response in the last paragraph is you are satisfied with your proposal on the basis that you are within, for the most part, the ranges of the Board.  That's --


MR. BONADIE:  Yes, I would say well within the Board's ranges, yes.


0MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Could you turn, please, to, under the same issue, 6.1, AMPCO's Interrogatory 17.  We ask about your cost allocation, and you say on page 2 in paragraph (a):

"To determine appropriate, accurate, and defensible distributor-specific weighting values for Enersource would require considerable data mining and analysis that was not feasible at this time."


That data mining comes up again.  I asked about data mining earlier.  What do you mean by that?


MR. BONADIE:  So in looking at the weighting factors for -- in particular for services, in trying to come up with a weighting factor for services, this would probably involve a detailed analysis of work orders and trying to evaluate those work orders to try and see what rate classes they should be charged to.  This would take some time to do, and that is why the response is as it is.


MR. CROCKER:  Not worth doing?


MR. BONADIE:  I didn't say not worth doing.  I said it would take some time to do.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  But that doesn't tell me why you didn't do it, just because it would take some time.


MR. BONADIE:  So Enersource, when we looked at this, this was reviewed maybe late in the process, and we didn't have enough -- sufficient time to do this analysis.  Even looking back at other utilities that file cost-allocation studies, I don't believe any other utility has changed from the Board-specific weighting factors.


MR. CROCKER:  That doesn't make it right.


MR. BONADIE:  No, it doesn't.


MR. CROCKER:  What weighting values are you talking about?


MR. BONADIE:  The Board has the cost-allocation sheet for -- so for weighting factors it uses default billing and collection-weighting factors and services-weighting factors.


MR. CROCKER:  And did you use those default weighting factors?


MR. BONADIE:  Correct.


MR. CROCKER:  As opposed to site-specific?


MR. BONADIE:  Correct.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Can we go back to Board interrogatory 45 again, please.  And if we could look at response (a) on the page following the graph.  You say:

"Revenue-to-cost ratios calculated for each customer class are based on a modelling exercise which has multiple influencing factors such as data quality issues and limited modelling experience."


Are you saying that Enersource has limited modelling experience?  Is that what you are saying?


MR. BONADIE:  I believe these are actually the words of the Board.


When they came up with the cost allocation model, they talk about data quality issues and the fact that this is just the second generation of the cost allocation model.


MR. CROCKER:  You may be right.


But Enersource is a pretty large, sophisticated utility now, wouldn't you agree?


MR. VEGH:  I think we are getting sort of argumentative here, Mr. Crocker.  It sounds more like a cross-examination.  You are asking the witness for his opinion on your propositions.  I think the evidence is clear, and if you do have more questions on the evidence, the witness is in a position to provide you with the best information that he has.


But I don't think it's very productive to have a back-and-forth on the opinions of the fairness of this.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I will put the question in a different way.


Could Enersource have modelled revenue-to-cost ratios where most or all of the classes were at unity?


MR. BONADIE:  I believe in one of the responses we do say Enersource is amenable to doing this, to moving cost allocation ratios.


In Board Staff question 45(c), we have done a calculation to move the residential class to 95 percent revenue-to-cost ratio.  And in reference to VECC IR question 49(a), they have had -- requested Enersource move the large-user and USL class to the top of their range.


And that has been done and provided in those IRs.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Could you do a model which showed me what the graph would look like, where all of the classes were at or as close to unity as you could get?


MR. BONADIE:  I could.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.


MS. HELT:  That will be Undertaking JT1.16.

UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.16:  TO PRODUCE A MODEL SHOWING HOW GRAPH WOULD LOOK IF ALL CLASSES WERE AS CLOSE AS POSSIBLE TO UNITY, WITH BILL IMPACTS AT REVENUE-TO-COST RATIO OF 100 PERRCENT INCLUDED.

MR. BONADIE:  Sorry, I would just like to clarify that undertaking.


Are we required to provide bill impacts at the revenue-to-cost ratio of 100 percent, as well?


MR. CROCKER:  If you feel that it would be helpful to do so, sure.


MR. BONADIE:  Yes.  The only issue I bring up is maybe for the residential class, this would be something of a material impact on the bills.


MS. GIRVAN:  That's why I think it is important to put the bill impacts in.


MR. BONADIE:  All right.  Thank you.


MR. CROCKER:  I have no further questions.  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.


Rather than starting with further questions from another party today, we will conclude with this panel.


There are a couple of matters that I would just like to briefly touch on, and they relate to the confidential documents, specifically SEC IR No. 27, the third-party contract.


If there is a report from Enersource with respect to its availability?


MS. DeJULIO:  I knew you were going to ask me that.


I have been checking my e-mails all afternoon, and I was told that the third party to the contract has -- expected to get back to us by about 5:00 o'clock today, after talking to -- after speaking with their lawyer.


MS. HELT:  So you are unable to provide it?


MS. DeJULIO:  At this point.  I am sorry, yes.


MS. HELT:  So we don't have either the redacted or unredacted?


MS. DeJULIO:  Not at this point.  I will do my best to give you that answer tomorrow morning.


MS. HELT:  All right.  And you have provided a redacted version of the shareholders' agreement?


MS. DeJULIO:  That's right.


MS. HELT:  And we have that marked as KT1.3.


Has that been filed, as well?


MS. DeJULIO:  Just handed over to Mr. Battista, but we could put it through RESS in the next day or so, yes.


MS. HELT:  If any of the intervenors don't have a copy of that, perhaps -- did you e-mail it to them, as well?


MS. DeJULIO:  No, I did not.  I e-mailed it to Mr. Battista, and he kindly provided me with about four copies, but maybe it would be -- and so I think Mr. Shepherd has one, perhaps?  You do not?


I would be happy to distribute what I have here, but we could file this tomorrow, as well, electronically through RESS.


MS. HELT:  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's fine.


MS. HELT:  All right.  I don't have anything --


MS. DeJULIO:  I have something else, then.


Enersource has copies at the back of the room of the interrogatory responses that were filed electronically through RESS on Friday.  And we have some at the back of the room, if anyone wants hard copies of those.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Is there anything further?


Okay.  We will continue tomorrow morning at 9:30.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 4:56 p.m.
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